Leadership Role of the Captain in Professional Sport

Vranić, Lucijan

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2022

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Zagreb, Faculty of Economics and Business / Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Ekonomski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:148:493477

Rights / Prava: Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International/Imenovanje-Nekomercijalno-Dijeli pod istim uvjetima 4.0 međunarodna

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2024-07-14



Repository / Repozitorij:

REPEFZG - Digital Repository - Faculty of Economcs & Business Zagreb





University of Zagreb Faculty of Economics and Business Master Degree in Management

LEADERSHIP ROLE OF THE CAPTAIN IN PROFESSIONAL SPORT

Master thesis

Lucijan Vranić

University of Zagreb

Faculty of Economics and Business

Master Degree in Management

LEADERSHIP ROLE OF THE CAPTAIN IN PROFESSIONAL SPORT

Master thesis

Student: Lucijan Vranić

JMBAG: 0067548019

Mentor: Prof. dr. sc. Mislav Ante Omazić

STATEMENT ON ACADEMIC INTEGRITY

With this signature I confirm that in preparing this thesis I will comply fully with the Code of Ethics of the University of Zagreb.

I hereby declare and confirm that the final thesis is the sole result of my own work based on my research and relies on the published literature, as shown in the listed notes and bibliography.

I declare that no part of the work has been written in an unauthorized manner, i.e., it is not transcribed from the non-cited work, and that no part of the work infringes any of the copyrights.

I also declare that no part of the work has been used for any other work in any other higher education, scientific or educational institution.

Student signature _	
---------------------	--

ABSTRACT AND KEY WORDS IN ENGLISH

Leadership has become one of the most prominent themes in all areas of work and development.

Good and effective leadership is key to success in the modern world that evolves daily. Sports are

defined by teamwork, but leadership makes all the difference. Strong teams have strong leaders

and vice-versa. The key topic of this work is the role of leadership in sport efficacy, specifically,

the role of the captain in teamwork environment. The captain is perceived as one of the most

important members in the team mechanism, because of their general presence and holding the

structure of the team. In this thesis leadership elements and skills will be explored, such as types

of classical and modern leadership; what it means to lead and what makes an effective and

productive leader. Moreover, the role of leaders in sports will be examined. The research will focus

on analysing competences and elements of leadership in professional sports, so that the objectives

of this thesis could be depicted.

Key words: Leadership, Sport, Captain, Skills

i

ABSTRACT AND KEY WORDS IN CROATIAN

Vodstvo je postalo jedna od najistaknutijih tema u svim područjima rada i razvoja. Dobro i

učinkovito vodstvo ključno je za uspjeh u suvremenom svijetu koji se svakodnevno razvija. Sport

je definiran timskim radom, ali vodstvo čini veliku razliku. Jake momčadi imaju jake vođe i

obrnuto. Ključna tema ovog rada je uloga vodstva u sportskoj učinkovitosti, točnije uloga kapetana

u timskom okruženju. Kapetan se percipira kao jedan od najvažnijih članova u timskom

mehanizmu, zbog njihove opće prisutnosti i držanja strukture tima. U ovom radu istražit će se

elementi i vještine vodstva, kao što su vrste klasičnog i modernog vodstva; što znači voditi i što

čini učinkovitog i produktivnog vođu. Štoviše, ispitat će se uloga lidera u sportu. Istraživanje će

biti usmjereno na analizu kompetencija i elemenata vodstva u profesionalnom sportu, kako bi se

mogli prikazati ciljevi ovog rada.

Ključne riječi: Vodstvo, Sport, Kapetan, Vještine

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT AND KEY WORDS IN ENGLISH	i
ABSTRACT AND KEY WORDS IN CROATIAN	ii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Topic and Objective of The Thesis	1
1.2 Sources and Research Methodology	2
1.3 Content and Structure of The Thesis	2
2. THEORETICAL OVERVIEW OF LEADERSHIP	3
2.1 Difference Between Leadership and Management	14
2.2 Overview of Leadership Theories	14
2.3 Strategic Leadership	25
3. LEADERSHIP IN PROFESSIONAL SPORT	30
3.1 Team Environment and Types of Team Leadership	34
3.2 Leadership Role of Coach/Manager in Professional Sport	
3.3 Athletic Leadership	46
4. LEADERSHIP ROLE OF CAPTAIN IN PROFESSIONAL SPORT	49
4.1 Roles and Responsibilities of a Captain in Professional Sport	53
4.2 Influence of Captain's Leadership on Team Behaviour and Performance	54
5. EMPIRICAL RESEARCH ON THE INFLUENCE OF TEAM CAPTAIN'S LI ON TEAM BEHAVIOUR AND PERFORMANCE	
5.1 Research Objectives and Methodology	57
5.2 Research Findings	57
5.3 Research Limitations and Future Studies	65
6. CONCLUSION	66
BIBLIOGRAPHY	67
LIST OF TABLES	77
BIOGRAPHY	78

1. INTRODUCTION

Leadership is characterized as the ability to inspire and drive people to bring out their best. It focuses on enticing people to contribute more to an organization's overall effectiveness. The process by which one person encourages and inspires others to achieve organizational goals and directs the organization to function more effectively and cohesively is a typical definition of leadership. Through the thesis, this ability will be analysed in the realm of professional sport, which is know as highly competitive and mandating division where only the most dedicated manage to succeed in achieving greatness. In fact, high-performance sport has been viewed as a setting that promotes a number of positive outcomes, including the growth of confidence and leadership skills, but it is also impacted by a strong performance-oriented focus that determines players' results.

1.1 Topic and Objective of The Thesis

Leadership is one of the essential aspects of sport, especially significant in team sports and the professional sport industry. Leadership can affect the behaviour of the team as well as the individuals within the team and presents a significant source of competitive advantage. Furthermore, the skills and qualities of the team captain can have a notable effect on the performance of the team. Oftentimes, the role of the team captain is underestimated with regard to the given responsibility, and the attributes and knowledge required. Sports leadership has been studied since the 1970s and the majority of studies focus on the leadership roles of coaches and managers. However, the athletes present another crucial source of leadership within teams. This thesis focuses on the leadership role of team captains in professional sport. The duties and characteristics of sport team captains will be investigated to explore what effective leadership consists of and which factors influence it. The aim of this thesis is also to examine the effects that the leadership of the captain could have on the behaviour and performance of the team and its individual members.

1.2 Sources and Research Methodology

A combined methodology and a deductive approach will be used in presenting the theoretical knowledge of the topic and deepening it with primary research. For the research, primary data about players' and teams' characteristics and performance is collected by conducting interviews. Theoretical knowledge is gathered from textbooks and scientific articles.

1.3 Content and Structure of The Thesis

After the introduction of the thesis and the topic, the second chapter of the thesis provides a theoretical overview of leadership which is set out as foundation for examining the knowledge of leadership in sports. The main differences between management and leadership are outlined before covering different leadership theories. Strategic leadership is also a topic significantly connected to professional sport. The third chapter of the thesis studies leadership in professional sport, covering team dynamics and different forms of team leadership. The main emphasis of this chapter is the difference in the leadership roles of team coaches and managers versus the leadership of athletes. The fourth chapter examines the leadership roles of captains in professional sport, outlines the roles and responsibilities of team captains, as well as explores the evidence from the literature about the effects of captain' leadership on the performance of the team, with evidence from different sports. The last chapter presents research with evidence drawn from different sports, examining the correlation of captains' performance with the performance of the team, also indirectly examining if the best performing players are assigned captain roles, or if some other characteristics are of greater importance.

2. THEORETICAL OVERVIEW OF LEADERSHIP

Cambridge vocabulary describes leadership as a "set of characteristics that make up a good leader", "the position and fact of the leader" or "the person who manages the organization". Leadership skills are all skills or ways of performing in the creation and execution of leadership. Karavidić et al. (2016) state that leadership consists of several levels of functioning: organisational leadership, business leadership, personal leadership, and interpersonal leadership. The primary task of a successful leader is to enable employees to understand the mission or to "live and breathe" in the spirit of the mission of the enterprise, to promote this training and the development of the confidence of team members, to build trust in the enterprise with honesty and transparency and to show a positive attitude and optimism when conducting their obligations.

Anderson (2002) argues that leadership is a pillar of human civilization throughout history. When leadership is understood as a function, then it is an essential element of management and then the presence of leadership in the group is considered skills that were seen as a style of leadership in achieving goals. In order to make the most use of human resources, leaders take the required steps and build connections with people within the enterprise and these measures may, among other things, refer to the adaptation of a particular style of leadership.

Storey (2004) explains how the transformational style of leadership in latest ideas is known as an effective style of leadership – this style is composed of four dimensions: the influence of ideals, inspirational motivation, intellectual simulation, and individual consideration. All transformational intellectual leadership (individual consideration, inspiration, intellectual simulation, and charisma) provide a prominent level of performance quality and active leadership has a positive and strong effect on employee satisfaction and improving the organizational circumstances in the enterprise.

Novelli and Taylor (1993) state that 21st century leaders must have critical and creative qualities (critical thinking and assessment are implied here), as whole concepts of leadership in different environmental conditions are practically upgraded. Most of the concepts of the past were based on hierarchical and bureaucratic structures. This type of leadership has proven slow in terms of upgrading and development and is specific to the 20th century when organizational environments were stable and strictly determined with truly minor change. This is where

decisions are usually based on current problems and are made by central power and influence. Such leadership is not present today, because it is not able to monitor changes and adapt to the market to the extent necessary for the business to be good and efficient.

Today's leadership skills have to be flexible enough for business to adjust to crises and other circumstances. Modern leadership skills are included in the transactional, transformational, team, service and situational style of leadership and adapt to the style and situational style. Authentic, empathic, enlightened, and resonant leadership skills (Marques, 2015) are included within recent styles of leadership.

Transactional leadership is a relationship founded on exchanges of information, *feedback*, and tasks. In a transactional relationship, the leader frequently utilizes incentives or penalties to encourage the engagement or completion of tasks from employees. The transaction manager is more engaged with routine tasks of maintaining the distribution of resources, observing and steering employees to accomplish tasks and organizational objectives. Whilst it can be effective in accomplishing objectives, transactional leadership usually does not result in commitment or good relationships. There are different dimensions under the theory of transactional leadership. For instance, a leader may opt to explain their demands and can provide material and rewards to the extent that employees fulfil their default obligations. Additionally, the leader can also decide whether he wants to partake in the transaction actively or passively, which will determine his intensity of influence in the management of the project. Transactional leadership is valuable in today's environment, as it can potentially contribute to efficiency, which is a factor one must not ignore when it comes to the status of the existence of the enterprise (Marques, 2015).

Transformational leadership indicates that the leader has a deeper relationship with employees. The transformational model of leadership was developed from charismatic leadership. The transformational leader utilizes their influence tactics and methods that encourage followers, improve their execution, and change their morals, norms, and attitudes, to increase alignment with the vision of the leader (Marques, 2015). Thus, the transformational leader builds real relationships with followers, frequently implying notable levels of trust, loyalty, and mutual respect. Attributable to the complexity of transformational relationships, employees are significantly more devoted to their responsibilities, seeing that the leader communicates a vision, a series of common values and a perception of meaning with them.

The transformational style of leadership is beneficial in the current context because it gives leaders the ability to successfully handle organizational changes, which are the only constant in modern performance, whilst abiding to a three-layer focal point: understanding the necessity for change; creating a vision that allows change; and implementing the change. Additionally, transformational leaders are depicted as role models in the procedure: they explain objectives, collaborate, and offer personalized assistance, as well as intellectual stimuli. Intellectual stimulation is what inspires employees nowadays to stretch their own boundaries in terms of creativity and innovation. (Marques, 2015).

Team leadership represents a team, consisting of those that the leader collaborates with towards a shared goal. Broadening sense, it consists of the whole enterprise, although leaders commonly have a smaller group with whom they communicate more often. One of the pillars of the partnership between the leader and his subordinates is trust. Effective communication in an efficient team is equally essential to enable sharing of information and productive decision-making. The team leader makes sure that all parts of the team and processes work well, without necessarily making all the decisions themselves. The team leader serves as a facilitator, ensuring that resources are used effectively, that team members have a voice within the group, are motivated, and receive training and support as needed to enable their growth. The enormous technological and competitive challenges that businesses are currently facing have urged leaders to rely more on teamwork structures to stay productive and competitive, making the team leadership style valuable in today's leadership environment. Understanding interpersonal differences and having the ability to successfully resolve issues resulting from opposing personalities on the team are requirements for team leadership. (Marques, 2015).

According to Greenleaf (1991), the service leader is primarily a "servant" and indulges in a natural sense of desire to serve. The act of leadership, therefore, stems from a desire to serve to make sure that the needs of others are fulfilled. The service leader therefore focuses primarily on being helpful to his employees. This happens at the discretion of the leader and is therefore often associated with authenticity, morality, and spirituality. Such leadership is a departure from other leadership styles, since, according to this style, the leader does not deal with individual progress, but acts mainly for the well-being, needs, progress and autonomy of his team members. Since service leadership allows employees to develop, employees will receive it.

Style is valuable in today's leadership environment since it instils a feeling of humility in the leader who applies it. Due to the many cases of egocentric and narcissistic leadership, this style can be a remarkable guide to adapting to different perspectives. Leading from such a point of

view, the leader helps those in need of leadership and puts unique importance on helping those who need is the most. Service leadership has a spiritual basis of mutual care, trust, and a sense of community, which enables the company and employees to perform brilliantly in the market (Marques, 2015).

Ackerman (1987) states that the development of leadership skills was theoretically created through two currents of thought and research. One stream of research focuses on the skills acquisition while people practice certain tasks. The second study stream focuses especially on the business processes that are engaged when people gain knowledge and skill in various fields of experience. Conventionally, competences attainment and development analyses have pursued to recognize how execution enhances over time as a function of exercise. Although performance is built and enhanced via application, the elements that contribute to skill acquisition in the early stages of practice are different from those that have an impact on performance in the later stages of practice. Typically, shared features, such as intelligence, are evident of the strongest effects in the preliminary stages of acquiring skills, whilst other narrower features affect performance in the later phases of acquiring skills.

Ackerman (1991) proposes a three-stage model of leadership skills development that emphasizes that skills acquisition is first conducted by people who gain an understanding of the requirements for task performance, for compiling responses, where performance developmental abilities are combined, to the last stage, when performance is standardized.

These performance-based skills acquisition models have several significant implications for each effort to understand skills development, including the development of leadership skills. Factors which have an influence later development are not the same ones that affect the initial stages of development, hence showing that experience changes the process. Thus, useful experiences at one stage in the career of a leader may not be of use in other phases. Secondly, the types of mistakes made in one phase of a leader's career may be dissimilar from the types of mistakes that occur afterwards. Thirdly, the features associated with the acquisition of knowledge (for example, motives of intelligence and mastery) seem especially significant at an early stage of the skills acquisition process. Performance-related characteristics (for example, task assignment and focus) are more strongly associated with later performance.

Unlike the performance-based approach, other theories are centred around how people gain skills in different fields of education. These studies show that skills are developed steadily over a period of more than 10 years. Professionals have a greater mastery of concepts than novices

do in a way that they have mastered many different notions, sort input based on the identification of principles and can apply concepts in a flexible way that depends on the key aspects of the situation. Contemporary research has deepened these conclusions by studying variables, learning interferences, which adapt to the growth of skills. For example, Ward et al. (1990) find that active self-initiated use of the principle can quicken the process of development of skills. Additional research has shown that performance can be enhanced by developing models for structuring and organizing ideas, as well as effective application methods and strategies.

Although these two streams of research have dissimilar objectives, both provide a coherent picture of the skills acquisition process. At the start, people need to adopt basic concepts, gain an understanding of what is expected from them, also put these ideas into well-organized, practical circumstances. When people start to solve issues on their own and learn to apply various concepts in various situations, these concepts must then be expanded upon and utilized in more complicated environments. Last but not least, fast integration of information from multiple techniques and sources helps individuals to handle complicated problems that are changing frequently. (Mumford et al., 2000).

There are two differing theoretical views on how the requirements for different leadership skills change at hierarchical levels. The continuity perspective argues that jobs at consistently higher levels demand all the lower-level skills and additional skills needed for this level of organization. In contrast, the perspective of discontinuity argues that managers have to give up some skills in the process of promotion between levels of an organization. Analyses of the 360-degree competency assessment dataset revealed that these two perspectives take place at the same time. What is anticipated of managers is shown by the continuity perspective, while the perspective of discontinuity reveals the strategies used by managers to be successful (Meuse et al., 2011).

In the initial stages of continuity theory, the authors distinguished eight categories of work that typical leaders execute: planning, research, coordination, evaluation, supervision, personnel, negotiation, and representation (Meuse et al., 2011). Mintzberg (1973) identified ten leadership skills that leaders regularly conduct. Each of the roles entails a unique way of behaving and a set of skills. Mumford et al. (2007) proposed a model of Strataplex leadership skills. This model states that all of the abilities of lower organizational levels in business are required for positions at progressively higher levels in an organized system. However, certain abilities become more valuable when people transition from one role to another. They divided the remaining four

categories of leadership qualities into cognitive, interpersonal, business, and strategic categories. The authors then asked 1,023 working individuals to evaluate the amount of effectiveness needed for each of these various management roles for each of these four categories of leadership qualities. The study showed that higher-level positions within an organization require a higher level of all leadership competencies. They also demonstrate that competencies crucial at lower levels of the organization, such as leadership abilities that are interpersonal and cognitive, do not decline as one moves up the organizational hierarchy. The pattern of shifting skill needs illustrates the continuation of the governance change from a standpoint. Considering this discovery, Mumford et al. (2007) proposed that businesses focus on continually enhancing current leadership abilities as well as creating new talents as part of their management and leadership development programs.

There are several similarities between perspectives of continuity and discontinuity. Both approaches consider the many tasks that exist within the managerial structure. Moving mobile leaders must improve their job productivity and leadership abilities by using new performance domains as models. But there is a discernible difference between the two points of view. According to the continuity perspective, abilities related to lower management level leadership effectiveness are essential for higher level governance.

In contrast, the perspective of discontinuity theorizes that some positive behaviours and leadership practices for one level of management can become negative on another level of management. Therefore, leaders must abandon former behaviours and applications of leadership that are no longer effective after the transition of management. Both perspectives received empirical support. Contrasting perceptions illustrate the transition of leadership skills from various aspects. The idea that leadership is subjective is a key element of implicit leadership theories. In other words, viewers classify leadership qualities according to their presumptions.

As digitalisation nowadays increasingly impacts every business activity in companies, the question arises as to whether and if it does, in what way, this development affects the way leaders run businesses and communicate with their employees. In addition to enabling new forms of interpersonal interaction and employment prospects, digital development also dramatically alters or even completely replaces existing activities. Avolio and Kahai (2003) blame a rapidly evolving work environment for the distinctions between conventional leadership and leadership in the digital era, yet the fundamentals of leadership do not seem to undergo substantial change.

Recent technological advancements like robotics and machine learning, along with the growing automation of regular tasks, are creating challenges for both employees and management. How to manage virtual teams, deal with multi-generational teams with various technical preferences, promote the transfer of functional expertise, and establish a sensible connection with ubiquitous digital technologies are problems that leaders must answer.

When working in a virtual setting, face-to-face interaction and other customary social systems are no longer prevalent, which is why innovative ways of coordinating teamwork and communication need to be applied. This is not to say that solely digital technology is applicable when team members work from various locations or remotely. Instead, the virtual nature of teams is characterized by the degree at which digital tools are utilized for coordination, the resulting information value, and interactions of synchronized team members. The biggest problem here is not technological complexity, but the increasing complexity and flexibility of people. One of the questions in this context is the extent to which trust can be developed without face-to-face interactions and what factors affect trust in virtual teams.

While the internet, email, and sometimes even social media have become standard tools for getting things done, they also give convenient access to social media, email, and other non-job-related activities while at work. Being electronically connected (during the performance of work obligations) always creates a challenge in creating a clear division between work and leisure, which in turn can promote labour-non-working conflicts. Businesses may experience the effects of information overload, technology addiction, and technological stress if executives are unable to identify appropriate strategies to set boundaries between work and pleasure.

The age gaps in the workforce are a further source of potential conflict. Younger personnel frequently have a better understanding of digital technology than their more experienced peers. If senior employees collaborate with junior team associates, the different technological knowledge and preferences of these groups can lead to conflicts. Leaders should be able to recognise such differences in an early phase and avoid escalation. Modern technologies can drive major improvements by gathering and processing information, but also making companies more susceptible to cyberattacks. Leaders have to be mindful of the appropriate benefits and risks to ensure appropriate use. Some of the adjustments considered necessary to focus on modern day managerial challenges may be in the layout of the technology, while others might necessitate a rethink of leadership topics (Klus, Müller, 2020). The possibility that may emerge from the proper use of digital technology and the role that leadership is in this framework will be summarized below.

Even though digital technology is prevalent in today's workplaces, its potential is frequently underutilized. Even entry-level personnel may bring a high degree of digital expertise to a company, which can be advantageous and need to be taken advantage of. The abundance of data that employees have access to may be used to create a range of services at a lesser cost. Digital technology also enables team members who are dispersed geographically to collaborate.

Within the current organizational framework, a favourable team structure may be accomplished virtually without friction. Online customer interactions, web-based collaboration software, and systems or tasks for managing content are some of the technologies that facilitate certain types of work and collaboration. These tools can range from basic applications to complex toolkits. Employees may monitor and assess their work processes using digital technologies, which makes it easier for them to spot productivity problems. In general, effective management of digital technologies can bring many benefits.

In the past, leaders have used strong leadership and compelled subordinates to obey or face the penalties. Workers and lower-level employees have formed unions over the years to defend themselves; this is a clear indicator that there are certain behaviours of leadership that employees view negatively and consider them bad. Leadership has seen that people who feel oppressed tend to react negatively which results in slowing productivity and producing inadequate quality work. Leadership, according to Jowah (2016), consists of three common elements, namely, the person leading, the persons being managed and the situation or project environment. Together, these three factors do what informs the behaviour of the leader or follower regarding the tasks ahead. Other authors classify leadership into four models: talking, selling, participating, and delegating (Jowah, 2016).

People are likely to be unfamiliar with an activity or setting if they are performing it for the first time. The "talking" leadership style, which contains a lot of controlled behaviour that may be defined as directive, is successful at motivating employees to perform. People who are uncertain about how to express their jobs verbally, lack experience, and lack self-confidence might benefit from it and work more productively.

In terms of sales, the greatest probability of successfully achieving employee cooperation is to provide a clear goal and mission of the enterprise. It is known that sales leaders provide the direction that leaders want, followed by communication and support. Participation means that leaders routinely involve employees in business processes, while having regular communication with them. They must determine the steps to be taken when achieving the

objectives set and these steps must be clear to everyone. However, the delegation leader is prepared to transfer decision-making and problem-solving authority to staff members who are qualified to do so and have the relevant expertise (Jowah, 2016).

Employees with experience who get by would want to be given their duties and the freedom to excel at what they do. A leader who continues to keep an eye on the menial jobs they complete might annoy them. Investigators researching this topic have produced several theories and classified the behaviour of the leader in numerous forms and categories. Some of the classifications of leadership styles were described by Jowah (2016), and they are as follows:

Early theories of behaviour are specific to the period of the 1930s-1940s, and in them it is suggested that leaders share common features and characteristics that distinguish them. According to this view, leaders are born, not made, hence some people are predisposed to taking charge from an early age. An advocate of this theory insists that leadership is an innate, instinctive quality that one either has or does not have. This idea suggests that qualities like assertiveness, good judgment, charm, enthusiasm, a positive outlook, charisma, and empathy (as opposed to compassion) are characteristics that create a good leader.

Behavioural theories over the next two decades (1950e, 1960e) evolved from the matter in which some leaders act – they can be the type to dictate decisions and delegate tasks to people or the type that includes people in the decision-making process. Within this, modern authors, as he states (Jowah, 2016), divide leaders according to this theory into autocratic, democratic, and laissez-faire leaders.

Decisions are made by autocratic leaders without consulting their staff. When making decisions quickly, with little to no input from other team members, or when it is not important for the proper completion of tasks, this sort of approach is appropriate. Democratic leaders are the ones who involve their team in decision-making. This type of strategy is appropriate when team consensus is crucial, but it can be problematic when there are no clear-cut options available but instead a range of views and notions. Laissez-faire leaders allow team members to make decisions without excessive supervision. This may occur when team members are highly skilled and need little supervision or when the team leader is inattentive or incompetent (Jowah, 2016).

Theories about contingencies occurred in the 1960s and emerge from the view that the leadership style depends on the circumstances, that is, on the function of the circumstances involved. This theory attempts to explain which leadership style is optimal in accordance with

the given circumstances. This suggests the concept of situational leadership in which the situations determine how the leader seeks to exert influence on the employees.

Theories of power and influence are based on the various ways that leaders employ these resources to carry out tasks and the leadership philosophies that are appropriate in each situation. They establish three categories of positional power: coercive, rewarding, and legitimate. The three components of personal power—expertise, charm, and reference—are studied. Unlike positional power, personal power would ensure operational success.

Successful project management includes numerous additional factors that support the efficacy of operations. Jowah (2013) argues that several unrevealed factors influence the operational and performance processes of the project. The project's success depends on how carefully it was planned, which was all too frequently done before the project manager was appointed. The physical properties of the project components that influence success or failure must be measured objectively. Therefore, the accuracy—or lack thereof—of the original planning directly affects the project execution process's success.

Table 1: Summary of environmental challenges for the leadership of several projects

FACTOR	EFFECT
Project-level activities	Incorrect implementation of project phases,
	slow progress, insufficient monitoring, too
	long duration
Managing business-oriented projects	Working on a project is a secondary priority,
	there is no defined owner, business or
	personal strategy, changes in roles,
	responsibilities and organizational structure
	are rapid and frequent
Roles of responsibility and commitment	Unclear functions and responsibilities, there
	is no clear difference between the leader and
	employees, especially at the project level
Activities at the portfolio level	Non-integrated projects, no resources, values
	and priorities on the project, no feedback
	from leadership
Information management	No information from the project leader, no
	definitive flow of information and database
Sources, competences, and methods	Inadequate assessment systems, lack of
	human resources and competences related to
	the project, too many people involved in
	leadership

Source: Jowah, 2016.

Table 1 presents the negative effects in a business where multiple projects are present at the same time and what happens when leadership is not sufficiently organised and competent to cope with so many different projects. These situations are especially important in a business where a large number of employees depend on one leader.

2.1 Difference Between Leadership and Management

Leadership and management are two concepts that are often confused. We use them indiscriminately and in the wrong way: when we talk about a leader, we often think of a manager, and when we talk about a manager, we see him as a leader. These two roles can indeed be held by the same person, but this is not always the case. Good managers don't have to be good leaders and some leaders don't have a managerial position. Despite everything, a team or a company will need both roles to shine. A manager must support his team members in their day-to-day work and make them excel, while a leader must provide an overview to the team members to buy them into the vision of the company. Leaders and managers are therefore crucial in strengthening team effectiveness and collaboration within the work environment.

When management and leadership are compared, it follows that the latter refers to an endeavour to change the behaviour of another person or group. Leadership is relevant to circumstances in which a person collaborates with others. It speaks about completing work and reaching objectives via the efforts of others. Effective leaders make events come to life. They don't sit around watching others and waiting to react to what happens. They understand what should happen, devise a way to make it happen and take steps to that effect. While management is about working with and through the company of others to achieve organizational objectives. This is not only applicable to business, but to all forms of organization: family, community life, friendships or society, club. Regardless of the framework, management is about working together with others to accomplish corporate goals. Management is a narrower idea than leadership. When attempting to persuade people, one may have a number of objectives in mind. In actuality, management is a particular kind of leadership that takes organizational objectives into account. Different things may be accomplished through leadership.

2.2 Overview of Leadership Theories

Since management itself is a young science, scientists have tried from the beginning to categorize the principles of leadership into different theories of leadership and approaches to leadership. They analysed them based on behaviour, traits, all to find the ideal concept for creating a good leader. While some felt that the leader was becoming, others felt that the leader

was born. None of the theories or approaches are inaccurate because the difference between them is insignificant. Therefore, we can divide them into three groups: early approaches, classical approaches, and modern approaches to leadership. The first theory to be addressed is The X and Y Theory, which does not really include leadership theories but with its views it has supported the development of individual approaches to leadership.

Douglas McGregor in 1960 in the book "Human Side of Enterprises" set out the concept of Theory X and Theory Y. These theories correlate with autocratic and democratic leadership styles. In the autocratic style, which can be associated with the X-Theory, it is assumed that subordinates do not want to work, and that punishment should motivate them to work. Such a style of leadership can often be seen in armies and is often called the theory of the great man. Conversely, the democratic style, which is close to The Y Theory, assumes that people want to work, work fulfils them, are collaborative and do not need to be controlled. McGregor's introduction of the Y-Theory in the '60s started a movement where the importance of human relationships began to be appreciated more. In his book, he emphasizes that personal growth is necessary in organizations and talks about the importance of human roles. McGregor believes that the basic goal of management is to "organize human effort in the service of the economic goals of the enterprise" and that "successful management depends (...) on the ability to predict and control human behaviour" (McGregor, 1960, p. 6). With the development of many approaches to leadership over the years, good interpersonal relationships have become the key to the development of the organization and greater importance is attributed to the personal needs of individuals. In addition, McGregor also assumes that a successful leader has the ability to adapt to the situations in which he finds himself. Later in the paper, the so-called situational leadership for which today is considered the necessary skill of the leader will be addressed.

Leadership based on the leadership's traits is one of the earliest theories of leadership dating back to the 1950s. Scientists strongly associate this approach with the theory of great personalities for the reason that its main starting point is that leaders are not created but born. According to Sikavica (2008), numerous scientists such as J. A. Conger, C. Levicki, C. B. Handy and others compare the above thesis with the thesis "nature or upbringing" and the leadership gene. Their argument is that each person is born with a certain talent, both for art and for leadership. C. Levicki prioritizes natural talent while believing that education is less important but not excluded. The above scientists consider that there are certain characteristics that a good leader has, that is, traits that can be observed already in childhood and are presented in the table below.

Table 2: Modified table of representations of good leadership qualities

Physical characteristics	Youth, vigor, height
Social background	Education in the best schools
Personal characteristics	Adaptability, aggressiveness, self- confidence, emotional stability, dignity, self-esteem, satisfied and fulfilling life, enthusiasm, courage, energy
Social characteristics	Charm, tactics, cooperativeness, respect for others
Characteristics versus task	Initiative, emphasis, acceptance of responsibility, quick understanding of new tasks, willingness to make rapid changes

Source: author

On the other hand, Northouse (2019) associates a trait-based approach with a five-factor personality and leadership model called the Big Five. Big Five). He argues that there is a correlation between these five lines of personality and leadership, and they are: neuroticism, extraversion, openness, agreement, and conscientiousness. Neuroticism tends to have negative feelings such as vulnerability, depression, and anxiety. This is the only one of the five personality traits not desirable in a leader. Extraversion is a tendency to sociability, socialization, and positive energy. Openness signifies a desire for information and creativity. Agreeing, as the word itself says, implies having a good relationship with other people, compassion and trust and conscientiousness as a personality trait signifies organization, focus on detail and determination. It is clear that positive characteristics such as sociability, positive energy, creativity, determination, and organization with good relationships with people can only positively affect both the organization and the followers positively. They with the leader of such qualities can feel comfortable and motivated to work. Despite this, the claim that such leaders are exclusively born is only true. In addition to possible innate talents for leadership, it is necessary that the same person is further formed and shaped through education and experience.

There has always been an opinion or need to stereotype the behaviour of leaders in order to determine the universal characteristics and skills necessary for success. Unlike the previous approach that assumes that leadership depends solely on the qualities of the leader, this

approach emphasizes the importance of skills, which can be learned and are not something with which a person is born. It is precisely in this that the skill-based approach differs from the others since it is focused exclusively on the leader and on his ability to lead subordinates. Katz (1974) states that three skills are needed for successful leadership: technical, interpersonal, and conceptual skills. People skills are necessary at all three levels of management: the lowest, the middle and the highest. A leader at every level must be able to communicate with people, respect their needs, and must have developed emotional intelligence. Technical skills are of paramount importance in a leader at the lowest (technical) level of management because a tangible product is created at this level, so the leader must be competent to do this kind of work. Conversely, the highest level of management requires from the leader conceptual skills that are abstract, intangible. He must know the work of all parts of the organization in order to be able to coordinate them. Its role is to make the decisions that will most serve the growth of the organization, and the leaders of the lower levels of management implement these decisions.

After Katz, Mumford et al. (2000) proposed additional skills needed for effective leadership, some of which are cognitive abilities, problem solving ability and others. It should be noted that the presented flowchart is valid in a perfect world, but in real terms they are influenced by the external environment and the leader's experience. Cognitive abilities, motivation, personality, knowledge, and skills are most influenced by the experience gained while the environment has an impact on each individual item. For example, if problems arise between the leader and the subordinate, it will directly affect the performance of the group. Approaches to leadership are characteristic because they have a lot of differences with each other but in fact each one complements the previous one. In classical approaches to leadership, the behaviour of the leader is emphasized and how it can affect the subordinates and their success, as well as the success of the organization. The first such approach to leadership that is processed in this paper is a style-based approach. A greater step forward in good leadership is made by implementing the situational approach to leadership that is defined below. It is the basis for other approaches that complement him further. The situational approach is about adapting the leader to different situations. The theory of concerted leadership complements it by exposing certain leadership styles for each of the situations. The theory of the path to the goal, on the other hand, defines four leadership styles depending on the need to motivate employees. The last theory that has been addressed that belongs to the classical approaches is the theory of exchange between leader and member. It is based on the relationships between the leader and the subordinate and suggests in which direction their relationships should develop for the best effect. Unlike the

above approaches based on traits that emphasize the necessity of certain characteristics and approaches based on skills that put the emphasis on the ability of the leader, the style-based approach emphasizes the behaviour of the leader. Many studies have been conducted to determine leadership styles and how to achieve the greatest effect through a combination of them. Thus, in the late 1940s, researchers from Ohio State University investigated how subordinates behave when they are run as a group or as an organization (Northouse, 2019). They had their subordinates fill out an extensive questionnaire to describe their leader's behaviour. The results of the study were reduced to two dimensions: structure and appreciation. With parallel research by the University of Michigan, researchers discovered two other dimensions: human orientation and production. Based on this research, Blake, and Mouton (as Northouse cites) created a management network in the 1960s that was later renamed the leadership network. They felt that she should serve leaders in the balance of caring for people and caring for production.

The situational approach is among the more accepted approaches today and extends through every newer approach to leadership. Although Fiedler defined his theory in 1967, which is the first situational one, it is believed that the situational approach was constructed by Hersey and Blanchard in 1969 (Northouse, 2019). The situational approach is such that he expects the leader to alter his approach to leadership based on the situation given and to measure his or her ability to adapt. It is possible for the leader to change his style even in the middle of the project if he feels that he will better serve to lead the subordinates towards the goal. A leader based on an employee, i.e., their commitment and competences, determines which leadership style to apply. The two most important items that characterize this approach are routing and support. We can make a comparison with the above leadership network where the degree of direction would be "autocratic leadership" because the leader orders subordinate how to reach the goal with clear instructions. The degree of support is "friendly management" that relies on empathy, aims to make subordinates feel comfortable and implies the cooperation of the leader and subordinates. Therefore, paternalism/maternalism also mentioned in the leadership network is also present in the situational approach. Based on the given situation and the motivation of the employee, the leader changes the degree of guidance and the degree of support. Its main task is to recognize when to adjust your leadership style and in which direction. Fred Fiedler and his associates developed the first situational theory of leadership in 1967, which is the theory of concerted leadership as stated by Sikavica et al. (2008). The theory of harmonized leadership, in addition to dealing with situations, also deals with the styles recommended for application in

each of the situations. According to Sikavica et al. (2008), Fiedler noted three key factors influencing the determination of leadership style: the relationship between the leader and the subordinate, task structure, and leadership positions of power. The relationship between the leader and the subordinate is good, that is, bad, depending on the level of trust that the subordinates have towards the leader. The structure of the task indicates whether the tasks are routine or non-routine, or whether the task structure is high or low. The position of power of the leader implies the position in which the leader is located, so depending on the hierarchical scale of the organization, this position can be strong or weak. A combination of these three factors produces an octave, i.e., an octave, eight potential situations in which the leader can find himself and these are as follows:

Table 3: Modified table of Fiedler's contingency leadership model

Situation	Leader-	Task structure	Leader's	Wanted
	follower		position of	leadership style
	relationship		power	
1.	Good	High	Strong	Task oriented
2.	Good	High	Weak	
3.	Good	Low	Strong	
4.	Good	Low	Weak	Interpersonal
5.	Bad	High	Strong	relations
6.	Bad	High	Weak	oriented
7.	Bad	Low	Strong	
8.	Bad	Low	Weak	Task oriented

Source: author

According to the first possible situation from the table, it is assumed that the relationship between the leader and the subordinates is good, that the structure of the task is high, that is, the relationship between the leader and the subordinates. Routine and that the position of power of the leader is strong. From this we can conclude that it is this situation that is the most favourable in which the leader can find himself. Conversely, the last above situation is the most unfavourable. In such a situation, relations are bad, the tasks are non-routine and the position of power of the leader is weak. Fiedler proposed two leadership styles for all eight situations: task orientation and orientation to interpersonal relationships. Northouse (2010) states that leaders focused on the task are the most successful in the most favourable and unfavourable

situations, that is, in situations that go smoothly and are chaotic. Favourable situations are considered to be those where the power of the leader is strong, relations with subordinates are good and tasks are clearly defined. An unfavourable situation is considered to be one where there is a poor relationship between a leader and a subordinate, the tasks are not structured, and the position of the leader is low. Moderate situations are located between the most favourable and unfavourable. In such situations, the most successful leaders are oriented towards interpersonal relationships. It has not yet been clarified why this is the case, but the assumption is that such leaders aspire only to safety.

The Path-goal theory is also classified as situational theories of leadership. The main goal of this theory is to find the right motivation for each subordinate in order to increase the work performance and satisfaction. "According to this theory, the proper performance of the work of subordinates will be possible if managers have clearly defined the work to their subordinates, if they have provided them with the necessary training for this job, and if they help them to do a better job and end up awarding them a reward for a job well done." (Sikavica et al., 2008, p. 500). The main characteristics of the theory of the path to the goal are clear definition of goals, providing performance support and rewarding when successfully fulfilling the goal. Access to subordinates seems individualized because the leader defines for each of them what approach to use. He needs to know and understand the goals of the individual so that he can direct and reward everyone. The path-to-the-finish theory brings together several leadership styles, and four are key: guidance leadership, supportive leadership, collaborative leadership, and achievement-oriented leadership. The leader can apply one or more styles, depending on the situation. Table 3 shows the main characteristics of the specified styles.

Table 4: Modified table of the Path-goal theory

Guidance leadership	Leader assigns roles to members that are
	clearly and appropriately defined
	Gives realistic tasks with step-by-step
	instructions
	Provides the resources and materials
	needed to perform tasks
	Sets tangible goals
	Explains what his expectations are of
	subordinates

Supportive leadership	The leader is accessible and accessible to
	subordinates
	Provides guidance, encouragement, and
	training
	Creates a comfortable environment
Collaborative leadership	The leader makes decisions with a group of
	members
	Encourages team members to give feedback
	and ideas
	Ensures that all members contribute
Leadership focused on achievements	The leader has ambitious standards
	regarding the goals and outcomes he
	passes on to his team
	Helps teams develop confidence and self-
	efficiency
	It offers the opportunity for members to
	challenge themselves to achieve greater
	goals

Source: author

The theory of the path to the goal is quite complex precisely because the subordinate is approached individually and not as a group. The behaviour of the leader, that is, the selection of one of the leadership styles, is the first essential factor that determines the success of leadership. Based on the behaviour of followers and the characteristics of tasks, the leader determines the leadership style that will be the most motivating. The behaviour of followers implies their need for belonging, preference for structure, desire for control and personal vision of the ability to solve a task (Northouse, 2019). Thus, supportive leadership will be most suitable for those subordinates who have a need for belonging and directing leadership for those with a preference for structure. For subordinates who have a desire for control, collaborative leadership is appropriate, as such an approach allows them to be satisfied to participate in decision-making. Leadership focused on achievements as well as directional leadership, in turn, is tied to subordinates who are focused on the abilities to solve a given task. Such individuals require directional guidance when their view for their own abilities is low, but the greater their insight into abilities, the less the need for direction. The aim of such a leadership style is to raise

the self-confidence of subordinates. Depending on the behaviour of the subordinates and the behaviour of the leader, the subordinates are assigned certain types of tasks. Northouse (2019) states that directing leadership is motivating in complex tasks where the rules are unclear. Supportive leadership is motivating in repetitive tasks. Vague and unstructured tasks require collaborative leadership. Leadership focused on achievements, however, is most appropriate in subordinates who believe that for the events of their lives, fate or external forces are the cause. Such guidance gives subordinates a sense of control, that is, of control of the circumstances in which they find themselves.

The theory of exchange between leader and member is based on the relationships that the leader and members (subordinates) have. Northouse (2019) states that there are two types of subordinates: those who want to do more and those who will work exactly as hard as they need to. The leader will do more for subordinates who are willing to perform additional tasks. In this way, subordinates create the opportunity for advancement due to commitment and better communication with the leader. On the other hand, the relationship is exclusively formal between the leader and the subordinates who want to work only as long as necessary. These relationships were criticized because it was considered that the leader should have an equal relationship with all members. For this reason, Graen and Uhl-Bien (as quoted by Northouse, 2019) stated that the process of exchanging leader and member should be conducted in three stages: the foreigner phase, the dating phase, and the mature partnership phase. The foreigner's phase is the first and it is characterized by the formality and relationship prescribed by the contract. This stage has a low exchange of leader and member, and the member looks only at his interests. The second stage is the stage of getting to know where the subordinate progresses, which implies allocating more resources as well as exchanging information with the leader, be it personal information or related to work. At this stage, the exchange of leader and member as well as mutual trust grows, and the member no longer looks only at his interests but also at the interests of the organization. The third stage marks a mature partnership, and the relationship is adorned with trust and respect. The leader and the member can rely on each other and for this reason the greatest exchange is here. Also, in the third phase, the member is focused exclusively on the interests of the group. This theory is different from the others because it most notes the importance of communication and the importance of trust. An exchange involving information sharing, respect, and excellent communication, increases trust between the leader and the subordinate. The greater the trust, the more responsibility the leader will assign to the subordinate tasks with greater responsibility, allowing the personal progress of the subordinates

as well as progress within the organization. The aim of the theory of exchange between leader and member is to create better interpersonal relationships and an effective working environment, which directly affects the positive growth of the organization.

Approaches to leadership that have been used in the past, today are not so represented. What was proposed in the 1960s is no longer valid to such an extent. Today's organizations operate in saturated markets, and the dynamics of the business have changed with the development of management. All these changes have resulted in the evolution of the approach to leadership, and the most popular of the modern approaches are transactional, charismatic, transformational, interactive, and serviceable (Buble, 2000).

As the word itself says, a transactional approach to leadership requires some kind of transaction. We often think about money transactions first but in this case, it is related to the system of rewarding and punishing. "The leader defines the goals, determines how they must be achieved, communicates them to subordinates, and rewards subordinates if they successfully achieve the goals set" (Buble, 2000, p. 550). At first, this approach is reminiscent of governance based on authority. Leaders who practice this approach to subordinates clearly define goals and how they should achieve them. It also defines what their reward is for a successful task, that is, a penalty if the task is not successfully completed. It is because of the reward and punishment system that this approach is called transactional. The difference between this approach from authority-based governance is that leaders are tolerant and fair, aid, advice, and resources to subordinates for the purpose of achieving goals and take care of the social needs of subordinates. Precisely because subordinates must strictly adhere to the rules on the basis of which they achieve their goals, this approach can have a negative effect on their creativity and motivation. On the other hand, the transaction approach can be effective when the tasks are simple in character.

Also, they consider the satisfaction of subordinates to be closely related to their productivity. Nevertheless, transactional leadership does not strive for change but is explicitly oriented towards stability within the organization. This style is also characterized by avoiding decision-making and solving problems too late. Buble (2000) lists some of the characteristics of transactional leadership such as:

- Preoccupation with power and position;
- It is plunged into everyday problems;
- It is outlined in the short term:

Deals with symptoms instead of causes.

The transformational approach to leadership is characterized by transforming the beliefs of subordinates in order to increase their commitment to the organization. It requires a certain charisma from the leader in order to be able to influence the transformation of the individual and the group. Transformational leaders are leaders who encourage change and have an unobstructed vision of change (Sikavica et al., 2008). Such leaders inspire and motivate subordinates to achieve goal setting. Therefore, transformational leadership is also called inspirational leadership. Buble (2000) states that the leader in this approach is in charge of creating optimal conditions in order to encourage subordinates to achieve results. Optimal conditions imply good interpersonal relationships, communication, understanding and compassion for the needs of subordinates. It is uncommon that in such inspiring and motivating conditions, subordinates achieve more than necessary to promote the vision of the organization. Some of the hallmarks of transformational leadership are (Buble, 2000):

- Preoccupation with purpose, values, morality, and ethics;
- Oriented towards long-term goals;
- Initiative-taking;
- Rewards significant contributions;
- Unleashes human potential;
- Leads in new directions.

Unlike a transactional leader, a leader with a transformational approach takes care of people, solves causes instead of symptoms and is preoccupied with morality. That is why this approach is suggested at the beginning of the business, that is, when it reaches the stage of decline. In such situations, it is necessary to inspire subordinates and transform their beliefs that they as a group, with a firm belief in the vision of the organization, can positively influence the growth, that is, the survival and success of it.

"The word charisma was initially used to describe the special gift possessed by certain persons which gives them the ability to do extraordinary things" (Northouse, 2019, p. 266). The charismatic approach to leadership is reminiscent of a trait-based approach where scientists, back in the 50s, considered that individuals were born with a special gift. The difference is that in a charismatic approach, other traits such as physique, height, best education, etc. are not advocated. previously cited by scientists. With this kind of leadership, leaders with their charisma have the ability to gain respect and trust with their faith and thus make his followers

follow him for the purpose of achieving results. Charisma is recognized for recognizing a person as a leader by a group of followers. Northouse (2019) lists the most common traits attached to such a leader: self-confidence, visionary and strong moral values.

A service approach to leadership sounds unconventional. Such leaders serve subordinates, elevate them, and motivate them by example. Spears lists nine features of a service leader, namely:

- Listening;
- Empathy;
- Healing;
- Persuasion;
- Conceptualization;
- Prediction;
- Management;
- Commitment to human development;
- Community development.

In addition to the above characteristics, one of the keys to successful leadership is emotional intelligence. The leader must be able to recognize the feelings and beliefs of subordinates. Also, leaders like this rely on strictly ethical leadership. The desire of service leaders is that the subordinates feel comfortable, have a trust, healthy and honest environment to give the best possible result. The service leader will always give more for his subordinates than for himself and is motivated by what his subordinates develop personally.

2.3 Strategic Leadership

Strategic Leadership is noticeable in the management of change, whether of the organization or that which is linked to products and services. In their function, strategic leaders are in charge of building or modifying the organizational structure, securing funding, allocating resources, and transmitting the strategic vision of the organisation to employees and investors. Strategic leadership supplies the framework within which organisations shape suitable strategies and generate value. In short, strategic leadership outlines a roadmap for the company that will allow

it to deliver its full potential; by constructing a portfolio of activities and setting the performance requirements of the company.

Strategic leaders are able to think about the long term, comprehend the broad picture, and understand the present context of the business. Strategic leadership is the ability to link long-term goals and ideas with daily operations. Even while formal organizational leadership is too often associated with strategic leadership, distributed leadership or dispersed leadership frameworks provide this term a far broader meaning (if one prefers to approach the intuitions of the Austrian school). In fact, a number of individuals—both inside and outside the organization—who have a strategic leadership viewpoint or competence may be active in strategy.

In his pioneering work on strategic leadership, Hosmer (1982) argued that the competitive position of an organization within its industry is not taken into account by contingency theories of leadership. Because a leader must continually take the organization's strategy in reference to the external environment, their job is distinct from that of a manager (Theory of management versus leadership). In this way, leadership displays an order of greater ability that involves both developing a strategy and influencing others to comply with it.

Boal and Hooijberg (2000) believe that a leader's capacity to grow and maintain three organizational capabilities is at the heart of strategic leadership: absorptive capacity (or capacity to learn), capacity to change and the capacity for wisdom in management. A certain flexibility of strategic leadership is therefore another source of competitive advantage for the company. According to Ireland and Hitt (1999), the company's sources its competitive advantage from strategic leadership when six components are present:

- Determining the objective or vision of the organization;
- Building and maintaining core competencies;
- Human capital development;
- Maintaining an effective organizational culture;
- Ethical management practices;
- Balanced organizational controls.

Strategic leadership sets out the vision, the direction, the progress objective to ensure the success of an organization in its context. The possibilities of organizational development are based on epistemic leadership since it is a question, for each individual, of understanding how

to collect and interpret data, when these become increasingly numerous. Epistemic leadership also initiates the way of thinking "outside the box" to generate future growth.

Generally, strategic leaders are most noticeable at the helm of exceptionally large organizations, influencing countless internal employees and external personnel. They delegate their leadership to strong "second-tier" leaders, allowing them to exert their influence particularly on their direct reports while focusing on the big questions that affect the organization as a whole. However, strategic leadership can also emerge in small organizations, whether for-profit or associative. However, it appears in the facts that the relationship to innovation is not the same in strategic leadership in public services (when strategic leadership exists) and that of the private sector. According to the authors, Crossan, Jansen and Vera (2009), the strategies of transformational leadership are associated with exploratory behaviours of innovation while the strategies of transactional leadership relate to the exploitation of innovation.

Strategic leadership can have a significant impact on organizational advancements, but organisational innovation is cultivated by the cultural context as also argued by authors of the Austrian school (Peter Boettke) in the unfavourable economic transition of socialist countries. Organizational learning is impacted by organizational culture. Additionally, there is proof that strategic leaders uphold the organizational culture they are most familiar with and instil their own moral standards into the fabric of their organizations. Strategic leaders directly impact organizational culture and the ability of organizational learning of other members, which hampers or halts organizational innovation. Strategic leaders struggle to persuade organizational members to reject institutionalized learning and embrace creative thinking in a status quo culture because they prefer transactional leadership over transformational leadership. There can often arise a "creative tension" between the "vision" of the strategic leader supporting change and the reality of the organization. Strategic leaders must be able to overcome reality and visualize the "strategic leap" an organization must make. To do it, they must act as enthusiastic advocates of change, since the organizational culture might not be as forwardthinking as them. Strategic leaders must cope with this ambivalence of an organization that wishes to advance but is anxious about too sudden changes.

A leader must have the abilities and resources necessary for both effective strategy formulation (discursive leadership) and change management. Strategic leadership presents an unobstructed vision (visionary leadership) by conveying the medium and long-term course of an organization. It provides the mechanisms through which organizations stimulate and support innovation and knowledge creation. Also, it gives a vision of the road map that enables an

organization to progress and innovate. He instils a sense of purpose in his subordinates for the roles they must play in achieving this vision and he encourages them in the face of new situations and challenges with motivated responses.

Decisions are made by strategic leaders who swiftly process information (superb cognitive abilities) by assessing alternatives oftentimes based on incomplete or incorrect information (epistemic curiosity in a state of vigilance), the repercussions of which have a strong impact on a many people as well as resources. Strategic leaders who have varying levels of skills and knowledge are more probable to quickly recognise changes in the environmental and/or changes inside the organization that demand a revision of the strategic direction. But they are not psychotic actors, whose nervousness would make them make the slightest decision under the effect of a sudden change. The capacity to take the appropriate action at the appropriate moment based on knowledge of the situation and the organization's constituents is a trait of the strategic leader. The capacity to come up with answers or reinterpret issues using several, contradictory scenarios and pieces of knowledge is a key component of managerial wisdom. With lower-level managers, the difference is made by the incorporation of these skills.

Strategic leaders are skilled at working in environments of extreme uncertainty where complicated problems and outside factors may have an impact on the company's future success. Strategic leaders may occasionally favour the psychological or capitalistic appropriation of workers to accomplish shared goals and thereby strengthen both internal and external motivations. The leader who reinforces the human aspect of his strategic leadership believes that his organization is consolidated thanks to the breadth and depth of the commitment he provokes. As such, strategy development is carefully coordinated, and widely communicated throughout the organization.

This entrepreneurial leadership or, more generally, entrepreneurial skills, may constitute the source of this strategic leadership. Occasionally, a long time must pass from the implementation for the effect of strategic leadership to become visible. This involves an internal training and development strategy for future leaders. In the case of a risk of "gap" of leadership, it is important that an organization plans a succession of its future executives, particularly at the approach of the retirement of a part of them who risks, after their departure, to leave a gap in terms of both practical and strategic knowledge.

If an organization anticipates certain leaders to leave in the near future, it may decide to plan for this "leadership gap" by developing infrastructure in which resources and practices are used to generate initiative-taking leaders on all levels within the organization. Finding leaders for the future requires developing a strategy in advance. Hence, there is a motivation to want to develop leaders internally. Coaching employees with perceivably strong potential who are accustomed to the realities of the organisation enables long-term organizational sustainability by "acquiring" leaders who are already acquainted with the organization's culture while shortening the learning curve of organization, compared to the organization having to recruit leaders from outside the organization. Strategic leaders stimulate organizational learning to investigate both knowable and unknown futures. They hold an important role in promoting the narrative leadership). Thus, they encourage a more engaged pursuit of the organization's mission.

3. LEADERSHIP IN PROFESSIONAL SPORT

Since the end of the 1980s, we have witnessed a rapprochement between the world of business and that of sport; two worlds than a priori everything is opposed. But the growing professionalization of certain sporting disciplines, on the one hand, and sport as a potential source of managerial inspiration, on the other hand, have initiated a convergence of these two milieus. Sport, which until then had been considered as "a bodily activity with little social legitimacy, if not vulgar" (Ehrenberg, 1988), has now been invested, for a good thirty years, with a great positive imaginary charge, probably because that it abounds in powerful registers of symbolic capitalization and strong identifying vectors (Wann, 2006) to the point that sportsmen and women are set up, as Griffet and Recours (2004,) suggest, as (...) national heroes who are instruments, both social and individual. Imaginary tools at the service of myths. Sport is in fact increasingly incorporated into professional activity with the aim of increasing performance and competitiveness (Barbusse, 2002). Moreover, the search for performance, rigour, ambitious standards, excellence, risk-taking, action in a competitive environment constitute elements that characterize both the world of sport and that of business., would explain this gradual rapprochement, but also the desire to understand the collective motivational logic around the notions of teams, unifying common values and pride in belonging.

Thus, the use of sport by companies is plural. With the aim of improving the productivity of employees by reducing absenteeism (more or less correctly attributed to poor employee health), health programs are put in place and sports equipment available to employees (Pierre and Barth, 2010). The effort perceived by employees, of the company that employs them, to improve their working conditions is experienced as a sign of staff consideration, well known to motivation specialists as reinforcing self-determination (Baard et al.,2004). It is also a crystallizer as a communication tool through sponsorship or the employment of a top athlete. Indeed, it contributes to nurture beliefs and to attempt to legitimize the values that the company wishes to embody and implement (Spanberg, 2012). This is how many contemporary or older high-level athletes and/or coaches also have a certain attractiveness and a large halo effect for companies. As "examples to follow" or as a champion of a Spinozian ethic in the sense of "doing well together", their thematic conferences constitute a direct or perceived lever of strong motivation for employees, taking the form of a sharing lived or ideal experience from which managers, this time, seek inspiration (Pierre et al., 2010). Beyond the myth and the symbolic

idealization that they represent, these speakers and their speeches can have a significant impact because they are perceived as having made their symbolic way to the top by carrying the consensus of embodying and respecting universal values, which nourish the symbolism of sport and its transfer to a society of progress.

Indeed, the imaginary of sport embodies a set of values such as self-transcendence, willpower, fair play, courage, abnegation, joy in effort, responsibility, competition. These attributes with which sport is adorned stigmatize those with which companies would like (or hope) to adorn themselves. Like any value, those conferred on sport are synonymous with beliefs or virtues, closer to myth (Defrance, 2006) as evidenced by the power of its intergenerational transfer (Jeu, 1977), than to a tangible reality. Thus, the fact that sport never releases the exact reflection of its reality, does little to euphemize the virtues attributed to it. It suffices to be convinced of this to note how its symbolic power and its related values resist with robustness the abuses (corruption, doping, violence, etc.) which do not fail to affect the sports sphere. Moreover, the myth of sport seems, on the contrary, indestructible, and constantly reanimated by the maintenance of beliefs and stereotypes (Jeu, 1977). Far from dividing or diminishing the symbolic significance of sport, these excesses, when they are combated by justice and its moral code, make it possible to close ranks around the (positive) values of sport, thus sanctifying the sporting space (Vigarello, 2000). This is why we think that the exploitation, by the company, of sport and its symbolism for the purpose of improving performance or even for unifying and identifying purposes (Barbusse, 2002) is still in its infancy. Understanding their interactions and meaning could help support companies in their desire to set up a new model of managerial ideal, of which sport appears as a possible inspiring model. Because, even if Taylorist thought is outdated, the figure of the manager is historically attached to the cold, almost hostile image of the person who sometimes puts people to work under duress. Companies, in their necessary adaptation to societal changes, have moved from the logic of obedience to a logic of responsibility and accountability. "Make-do" is gradually being replaced by "make-want." The management of human resources tends to emancipate itself from intentions of disciplining employees, focusing more on the fight against their demotivation (Ehrenberg, 1988). This is part of the image logic of corporate citizens who, without departing from objectives of excellence, would like to convince that they are ready to do so in social and societal resonance. So, the instrumentalization of the values, attributes, and symbols of sport, would offer the opportunity to create synergies on objects a priori antagonistic competition/performance and personal achievement (Ehrenberg, 1991). Sport and its attributes, through their unifying actions

(Yonnet, 2004) could make it possible to promote this rapprochement and more broadly, constitute the foundations for the creation of a corporate culture composed of values, standards, rites, myths, and heroes whose vocation is to create a community such as (...) Weber or Durkheim understood it (Barbusse, 2002).

This questioning then gives rise to the emergence of a bundle of issues, offered to a multidisciplinary approach. Thus, a series of questions emerges: how do we manage the men who make the prominent level of sport? To what extent can the management of sports performance feed into that of the company? On what principles of reciprocity? Few studies have been conducted on the subject, certainly because of the difficulties of access to potentially strategic data (multilevel competition between athletes, teams, clubs or even between federations), the culture of secrecy, mistrust of - vis-à-vis third-party and/or "foreign" players in the high-level world, etc.

Leadership is described as a process in which relationships of influence are exercised, with individuals sharing common objectives and mobilizing to achieve the said objectives or the desired changes (Yukl, 2006; Northouse, 2007). There are four generations of work on leadership. The first, the theory of personality traits, defends the idea of the existence of predisposed leaders with particular and innate character traits and skills: they are intelligent, insightful, vigilant, responsible, enterprising, persistent, confident, and sociable (Stogdill, 1948). This theory, criticized for an ambiguous definition of the notion of traits, was updated by the meta-analysis by Judge et al. (2002) highlighting the clear connection between the emergence and efficacy of leaders and traits such as extraversion and open-mindedness. Currently, we talk more about attributes – cognitive and social abilities, motivation, critical thinking skills, tacit knowledge – of leadership, of which personality is only one part.

The second generation analysed the ways leaders act. Behavioural approaches have described six distinct leadership styles based on the factors favoured (person-focused vs. task-focused behaviours) by leaders. The galvanizing style, mobilizing supporters by bringing them together around a vision, is reported impact the work climate positively. The partner (emphasis on bonding and harmony), democratic (seeks consensus through participation), and coach (builds supporters for the future) styles are described as building a positive climate. Unlike winning styles and authoritarian who encourage competition and demand immediate adjustments creating a negative climate.

The context not being considered here, the third approach (situational contingencies) centred around the significance of the situation in the emergence of leadership. The three main models are the path-goal theory of House (1971), the situational model of Hersey and Blanchard (1982) and the decision-making model of Vroom and Jago (1988). House (1971) focused on subordinate motivation as a guarantee of improved performance. The leader will have to help the follower to find his way. He will have to adjust his style according to subordinate's needs, provide him with what is missing to achieve his objectives and ensure that the reward suits him. He will be directive and will let the subordinate know what is expected of him or support and will strive to create conviviality or participatory taking care to include the subordinate in decision-making, or finally focused on achievements setting challenging goals to improve performance. Here, the responsibility of the leader is central: he is invariably the one who knows, and the subordinate is the one who is taken care of.

According to Hersey and Blanchard (1982), the style of leadership must correspond more to the maturity of the person (or the group) under penalty of failure. Maturity implies competence, need for accomplishment and involvement in achieving objectives. Directive, supportive, participative and delegative styles are adopted for a subordinate with low, medium, high, and extremely high skill levels, respectively. If the two previous models are cantered on the supervision of leaders, that of Vroom and Jago (1988) describes decision-making strategies according to situational variables. Depending on the importance of the decision, the expertise of the group and the leader, the competence and support of the group for the objectives and the importance and propensity for the commitment of the subordinates, the leader will decide alone or after consulting the group or individuals, facilitate or delegate decision making to subordinates. This model, empirically validated, omits that subordinate wish to be associated with decisions or that the decision-making process often requires several cycles.

After observing the greatest leaders, Burns (1978) suggested a new paradigm: the transactional transformational leader, giving rise to the fourth generation of work. The theory of transactional leadership suggests that exchange (give-and-take) and negotiation underpin the principle of this leadership, centred on clarifying the responsibilities of the subordinate in achieving objectives and the sanctions if they are not achieved. An extension of this theory made it possible to conceptualize another form of leadership, freed from any contingent dimension. Thus, for Bass (1985) the effective leader is one who has transformative power over those he directs (we speak of supporters) by creating support rather than exercising subordination. He takes them where alone they could not go by giving them the meaning the belief of having gone there on their

own, allows them to push their own limits and "through a process of mutual stimulation and development where selfish interests are transcended for the benefit of the common good" (Kets de Vries, 2006). To do this, he mobilizes the emotional, physical, and mental resources of his followers around a common goal by ensuring that they give the best of themselves. The effective leader is characterized by four dimensions summarizing character traits, modes of action, skills, and knowledge:

- Charisma or idealized influence (Bass, 1985; Kets de Vries 2006) which, more than a gift, is the ideal type of authority (as opposed to institutional authority determined by the leader's position in the organization), is the medium through which the leader weaves an emotional bond, inspires trust and creates support for his project or his vision.
- Inspiration: To be inspiring, the leader must create a culture by embodying a clear and attractive vision of the future embodying the collective ideal (Bennis and Nanus, 1985).
- Intellectual stimulation that creates an environment conducive to thinking, improving
 the current situation by inciting and encouraging innovation and creation among
 supporters.
- Consideration: by taking care to entrust appropriate tasks and missions worthy of their competence, the leader demonstrates consideration.

This behavioural skill allows him to know the needs, feelings, and values of their followers. However, it is precisely by virtuously manipulating these last elements that he will (de)construct beliefs and give "meaning" (Judge et al., 2002). It is (among other things) this ability to manage meaning that makes all the effectiveness of the transformational leader. These behaviours make him exemplary, define the model to follow and are also the source of the trust and loyalty shown to him by his supporters which, by stimulating the feeling of belonging plays a large part in their motivation to commit to the projects.

3.1 Team Environment and Types of Team Leadership

Sports teams differ from traditional teams in several ways. Although some of their characteristics are observable in organizations and other types of teams, the sporting context often exacerbates them. Thus, before applying solutions inspired by the world of sports to a traditional team, it is necessary to understand what characterizes sports teams. The captain is

typically the player who is most committed on the field during the game. Nowadays, playing the role of a leader implies a place at the centre of the team instead of above it. The leader therefore must present an example and know how to intervene on all types of tasks to help his teams when in need. In the professional environment, this can mean collaborating physically with your team, by training together. Additionally, the team's leader needs to be transparent about his approach to ensure that everyone remains focused on the same goal. He must have a clear understanding of what is expected of them on the field and the direction to go in order for his players to produce. The leader must take the time to occasionally make sure that everyone understands his strategy and vision, just like the coach does when he presents his tactics at halftime.

For them to invest as much as possible, it is essential that the environment in which the employees of a company evolve allows them to do so. Too often, especially because of the short-term objectives set by the company, managers ask their teams to run a sprint even though the distance to be covered is that of a marathon. The role of a leader, as well as that of a sports coach, is first of all to succeed in gaining height in order to then set the right objectives and ensure that the employees are able to achieve them. Improving the performance of his teams also implies that the leader must make sure that each of his teammates is in their optimal condition, both physically and psychologically.

In sport as at work, who tries nothing has nothing. A leader's job is to direct their efforts toward getting the team to invest as much as possible. For instance, in the contact sport of rugby, the captain must ensure that his squad remains dedicated despite any injuries. The same is true in business: although projects can be challenging and costly at times, the leader must be able to inspire commitment while also giving assistance to shield his team members in times of need. Difficulties and challenges can be seen as a source of motivation and accomplishment. The leader must support this way of thinking in order to lead each team member towards self-transcendence.

Encouraging risk-taking by his teams and asserting the right to make mistakes are the two skills necessary for the modern leader to enable his teams to gain in velocity. While there is a share of risk inherent in the speed at which the various projects progress, a leader must indeed tolerate the errors that may occur, to never lose agility. As Theodore Roosevelt said, "The only man who never makes mistakes is the one who never does anything." The error is also a fantastic way to learn, and it is precisely the leader to allow his teams to learn faster than his competitors. As on a football or basketball field, sometimes you must agree to take a

counter. The important thing is to then know how to bounce back. And the leader must then ensure the rear of his team to keep it motivated. Thus, if the velocity sometimes involves damage, it is better to choose this to immobility, and it is up to the leader to constantly remind his teams of this.

Team leadership is a method that encourages members of a team to work together toward a common goal while representing the organization's interests. The presence of a group in an organization with members who are mutually dependent on one another demonstrates this leadership. This style of leadership is evident in project management. Team members have shared objectives and have to harmonize their activities to achieve those objectives. A team leader constructs his team (team building), builds trust and teamwork, increases team capacity, creates team identity, exploits (in a positive meaning) the differences between team members as a leader does orchestra, and attempts to predict and influence change. Apart from the team leader, the analyses are based on team leadership with the understanding of the composition of a core within the team.

JE McGrath (1962) created a model of team leadership using a diagram with two intersecting axes: one symbolizing follow-up or acting and the other focusing on internal or external issues.

- Quadrant 1: Diagnosis of problems by the leader (group leader);
- Quadrant 2: Actions of the leader to solve the problems observed in quadrant 1;
- Quadrant 3: Leader observes threats in team environment;
- Quadrant 4: The leader acts to prevent harmful changes in the environment that could be harmful to the team such as those observed in quadrant 3.

This functional model is designed to dictate the responsibilities of the leader in a team and show how leaders should analyse the internal and external environment to determine actions to make the team more effective.

In the 1970s, Meredith Belbin carried out a study of teams examining the factors distinguishing successful and unsuccessful teams from a business game at Henley College. She recognized the significance of the team's organizational structure and the fact that individual differences in style, purpose, and contribution may not indicate a person's deficiencies but, rather, may be a source of collective strength. Well-balanced teams comprising individuals who engage in behaviour with a complementary function perform superior to unbalanced teams.

Nine distinct functions were discerned in the study. Majority of people adopt a mixture of two or three functions while avoiding other function in which they do not feel comfortable. There is no ideal team member, that is, someone who is capable of having all nine roles. When an individual has clear, useful, and valued attributes, they are recruited to the team according to the strengths they bring. These team members also possess weaknesses that fall under the same category of shared traits as the strength. These potential shortcomings are the cost of obtaining a certain strength; this is an "allowable weakness".

From this study, Meredith Belbin drew the contrast between the "solo" leader and the "team" leader. She suggested that solo leaders very rarely admit their weaknesses, whether they are admissible or not. They act like they have no weakness. Meredith Belbin uses a definition given by Charles Handy to depict her hypothesis of solo leadership: "A leader forms and shares a vision that gives focus to others." The solo leader is a person who leads a team. He is always ready to assume any role with the referent responsibility. In the workplace, this type of behaviour has great advantages when it comes to overcoming internal obstacles and making decisions, especially those of an urgent nature. Many enterprises have promoted individuals to leadership roles when they have satisfied critical demands and corporate objectives, rewarding solo leadership behaviour. But the growing complexity and discontinuous nature of modern work, however, pose more challenges for solo leadership. Team leadership seems better suited. Although this role does not come naturally, Meredith Belbin insists that it can be learned by understanding the essence of leadership and the necessary qualities. In a work environment characterized by change and uncertainty, no individual has all the management answers to take.

Elizabeth P. Karam, Frederick P. Morgeson, D. Scott DeRue (2009) gave a holistic perspective of team leadership on the fifteen functions that allow teams to satisfy their basic requirements and control their behaviour in relation to goal attainment. These functions are split into two groups, the transition phase, and the action phase. In the transition phase, the following leadership needs are included: building the team, determining the mission, defining expectations and objectives, structuring and planning, training, and developing the team, giving meaning (Making Sense), and giving comments (feedback) on experiences. In the action phase, the leadership needs are controlling the team, setting team boundaries, giving challenges, performing team tasks, solving problems.

The association of team members is essential. Team leadership is highly functional when a number of people have skills, complement the group's vision, and share a common vision for which each of them is held equally accountable. This critical function does not happen by

accident. Teams should be built carefully with a lot of thought given to the structure of the team as well as the members that will form its base. A team cannot survive without a well thought out structure and a vision which will be the foundation towards which the group will work.

When team leadership theory is combined with other leadership theories, it is reinforced:

- Along with empowering leadership, team leadership assumes that each individual on the team has leadership potential;
- With behaviourist leadership, the team serves as the focal point for the leader to make decisions;
- Along with participatory leadership, team leadership theory improves the quality of the organization by boosting employee participation;
- Along with followership theory, team leadership theory enables leaders to use their knowledge of methods that build team member motivation, participation, and commitment. The team leader can be a leader in the organization and use their "follower" understanding when participating in non-profits. However, team leaders must have the skills to manage lack of participation, disagreements, criticism, and any disruptive behaviour from any individual on the team;
- With Total Quality Excellence Leadership, leaders apply statistical tools and generate solutions to diverse organizational issues;
- Along with democratic leadership, team leadership seeks the involvement of the team in decision making, problem solving, and task evaluation;
- Along with discursive leadership, team leadership allows the organization of meetings, discussing the objectives that are identified and which must be the point of attention of all team members. Leaders use various communication tools such as workflow diagrams presented in a slide show on a PowerPoint-style presentation, or tables on a paper easel (paperboard flip chart).

3.2 Leadership Role of Coach/Manager in Professional Sport

Throughout the history of theories about management, there has been the development of various theories that fall under several basic theories given that they draw common fundamental concepts and elements. One of the oldest theories of management is the Leader Theory, which assumes that leadership is innate in certain individuals, and according to this theory leaders are

'born' and not 'created' (Sikavica et al., 2008). Behavioural theory is based on the behaviour of successful individuals within organizations. This theory is based on observing the behaviour of successful leaders, that is, trying to expose whether there are common patterns of behaviour that determine good leadership, that is, a good leader. Behaviourist theory, unlike the Leader Theory, states that a leader can become, that is, leadership can be learned (Sikavica et al., 2008).

The contingent or situational theory of leadership also considers the circumstances in which the leader finds himself, that is, according to this theory, the leadership depends on the circumstances in which the enterprise or the leader himself is located. In this way, according to this theory, clear group patterns of behaviour of leaders cannot be discerned, since each individual leader is in a specific situation and is influenced by different circumstances (Dawson, 1994; Sikavica et al., 2008). Barrow (1977) gives the definition of leadership as "the behavioral process of influencing individuals and groups towards a specified purpose." The previous definition is important because it explains the vision of the leader, as well as emphasizes the necessity of interaction between the leader and the individuals of the group.

Effective leadership towards Crust and Lawrence (2006) is such that in according to the group it forms a collective understanding and achieving the motivation necessary to achieve the goals. The act of leadership itself implies according to previous authors to convert the members of the group into loyal followers. Achieving a following can be achieved through various manipulative techniques, but what makes leadership noble is the background behind it, which is used to achieve the higher goals of the organization, putting private goals of individuals in the back. When talking about the specific case of a football manager, this function is for a reason in Britain distinct from the function of an ordinary coach, and it is much closer to the volume of responsibility to the function of the sporting director of an organization. The function of a manager in an enterprise, as well as in a sports organization, is multidisciplinary, and requires managers to play multiple roles. In the context of a sports organization (football), the manager has the role to produce a clear plan, a coordinated and integrated program for the preparation of athletes, but he must think about the business and financial perspective of the organization (Crust and Lawrence, 2006).

Nevertheless, the operational aspects fall into the water if the sports manager does not have the characteristics of a leader and does not possess the skills and techniques of leading the team and the organization. Crust and Lawrence (2006) list the most important skills and knowledge of leaders in sports organizations: adaptability to the situation, caution towards the social environment, intelligence, assertiveness, ambition, creativity, diplomacy, oratory, the power of

persuasion, organizational skills, social skills, dominance, self-confidence, tolerance to stress, reliability, determination, and perseverance. Crust and Lawrence (2006) explain that according to behavioural research, the best leaders are categorized into two dominant areas, consideration, and initiative structure. Considering encompasses connections between leader and team members including factors such as friendship, mutual trust, warmth within relationships, and building intimacy in a group. The foundation of the first composition is the development of policies, procedures, and operational frameworks that guide the group (organization) toward the previously established goals. In sports organizations as well as in enterprises, extremely high results are visible in both categories in successful managers who are perceived by employees as real leaders in their domains.

Managers in sports are most often seen as directors of sports organizations. However, managers are also chief executives of a sports organization and manage all segments of the sports industry. They directly manage athletes and manage sports training and competitions (Tomic, 2007). A sports manager is a person who organizes and manages a particular sports organization that aims to achieve certain sports and business results (Bartoluci, 2003). What is a problem is that today every person regardless of qualification can be a sports manager? For such a position there is no determination of the qualification that the manager in sports must possess in order to successfully do his job, and this is the main problem in Croatian sport where we find managers of different profiles and professions. Also, the above law gives one narrow definition of a manager in sports omitting all its functions (Bartoluci, 2003). As with general management, in sports management we also have three levels of managers (Bartoluci, 2004). Managers of the highest level are in the sports organization of persons who supervise and perform all processes in business and sports function, analyse them, and make appropriate decisions. The most important act of a top-level manager is to make decisions that are essential for the successful functioning of a particular sports organization.

He directly participates in the planning of the entire organization, the development of human resources, and controls the goals of the sports organization. A mid-level manager in sports is subordinate to certain functions of a sports organization. It manages the processes, affairs, and organizational structures of one part of a sports organization such as, for example, marketing or accounting. There are increasingly such jobs in sports organizations, and today's larger sports organizations have at least three managers who manage certain segments such as general manager, marketing director and finance director (Bartoluci, 2003). Entry-level managers in sports are also known as operational or executive managers. Managers of this rank are mostly

coaches. The coach performs all the functions of management and bears part of the responsibility in the management of the sports organization. He must plan the development of sports activities, athletes, sports teams, sports training, and competitions. Coaches manage human resources, athletes, which are the most important human factors in a sports organization. Additionally, they organize, schedule, and manage the training procedure. Thus, coaches use the same means and principles as other managers, in the most important function of a sports organization, sports function (Tomic, 2007).

The abilities and knowledge that are necessary for the performance of managerial tasks in sports depend on many factors such as: type of sports organization (club, sports federations, etc.), branch of sports, status and position of sports organization, development of sports, and most importantly, the level of managerial position and its roles. Abilities and knowledge can be acquired in educational institutions, but also through experience. Of course, as in sports, talent and creativity in managers play an essential role. The knowledge or abilities that managers in sports must possess are classified into three categories according to Tomic (2007):

- Technical capabilities (knowledge);
- Abilities (knowledge) in the field of management;
- Intuitive or conceptual skills (knowledge).

Technical abilities are related to the possession of technical - professional knowledge in sports, as in the specific profession of the basic activity of a sports organization. This also applies to other professions necessary in those activities of a sports organization that support the development of sports as a basic activity. Managers of the lowest level (coaches) must possess the most technical knowledge and abilities. Abilities (knowledge) in the field of management relate to knowledge in the field of management and the ability to use all management functions such as organizing, deciding, controlling, communicating, planning, etc. Without these abilities and knowledge, and the possibility of their quality application in practice, the manager cannot perform his tasks well. Conceptual abilities refer to those abilities that accept and cause changes in the environment and that can affect the organization in any way. These are those abilities that allow managers to see the whole of the organization, the functions and processes in them, and the ability to plan for global development. Managers with developed conceptual abilities more easily comprehend how the diverse functions of the organization complement each other and how changes in one part of the organization impact all other aspects. These abilities play the greatest role in top-level managers.

Camy and Robinson (2007) write about the competences of sports managers that are necessary for managers to act successfully. Previous authors, in collaboration with world-renowned scientists and experts in sports management and with the help of hundreds of sports organizations, have summarized and summarized all the competencies of a successful sports manager and predictors of the success of a sports organization and can be found below:

- Organization of a sports organization in accordance with the environment in which it
 operates, determination of structure, roles and competences in the organization, and use
 of information technologies and change management.
- Strategic management of a sports organization, which includes the creation of
 preconditions for the start and preparation of strategic planning processes, diagnostics,
 development, and implementation of plans that achieve strategic goals, and assessment
 of the effectiveness of the strategy.
- Human resources management, development and application of the rules and regulations underpinning sound human resources management, development and application of human resources strategies, identification of key principles and activities for attracting, recruiting, and motivating human resources, applying development policy through training programs, developing skills for human resources management.
- Management of finances as an integral part of the management system, fiscal responsibility, preparation of a financial plan in line with the strategy, preparation of project budgets, determination of financial procedures, supervision, and evaluation of the performance of the financial plan, and accurate, complete, and transparent financial reporting.
- Marketing management by analysing its services in relation to the needs of interest holders, improving the quality of services in relation to the expectations of interest holders, efficiently managing communication, analysing what is needed for a marketing performance, and accessing marketing in accordance with the adopted strategy.
- Organizing major sports events from decision-making on the organization, through the
 identification of the main stages in the organization of the event and performance tasks,
 the development of appropriate legal and operational frameworks of the event,
 identification of the necessary human resources and sports infrastructure, to the
 preparation of schedules, monitoring and evaluation of the resources used.

Numerous components such as physical and psychological readiness of athletes, technical and tactical components (Vojinović et al., 2008) act on the achievement of goals and reaching

success in sports, but directly and indirectly some external factors such as people with whom the athlete is in contact. The coach represents an important person in the life of an athlete because his task involves taking care of the technical, tactical, and conditioning requirements of the sport. Overcoming such demands of sports brings initial results and success, but with the passage of time, sports performance is increasingly determined by the relationship between coach and athlete that is gradually formed (Čerenšek, 2017). The coach can be defined as the person who leads the training, that is, who is engaged in training, which implies the preparation, teaching, training of the athlete, but he is also the person who raises the athlete and is his sports teacher (Dolenec and Zvonarek, 1999). So, in addition to leading and shaping training, the coach takes on other jobs and roles (Miljković, 2009), and undoubtedly a key component in the development of athletes as a person (Barić and Bucik, 2009). Also, coaches differ from each other according to their personality traits, competencies, qualifications, communication abilities, motivational structure, leadership behaviours, age, experience, level of education and management style, which determines what kind of relationship they will build with the athlete and what approach they will have in their work. Cushion (2007) describes the concept of coaching as a complex social process that is constructed and maintained by mutual interpersonal relationships, and such a process is limited by context. Therefore, cooperation between coaches and athletes is necessary for the athlete to act according to the set goal and to achieve the initial goals (Čerenšek, 2017).

Vella and associates (2010) state that there are three crucial factors that determine coach behaviours: socio-cultural context, organizational climate, and personal features of coaches. The influence of these factors is moderated by the expectations, beliefs, values, and goals that the coach has. The behaviours of the coach will affect the perception of the athlete about his coach, which is related to the performance and behaviours of the athletes themselves (Vella et al., 2010).

According to Miljkovic (2009, p.93), the style of coaching is "the way the coach behaves in relation to the athletes he trains." The style applied by the coach therefore depends on the coach's interaction with the athletes and on his decision-making process (Barić and Bucik, 2009). The traditional division of training styles distinguishes 3 types: autocratic, democratic and *laissez faire*. Unlike the autocratic style of coaching that excludes an athlete from the decision-making process, a coach dominated by a democratic style of (authoritative) coaching, pays attention to the needs and capabilities of athletes, encourages suggestions, and decides on the basis of them but maintains the structure. *Laissez faire* style is characterized by a vague

structure and undefined goals with extraordinarily little or no requirement from athletes (Miljković, 2009). Kašnar (2016) showed in his research that athletes are more eager for a democratic and instructional coach who gives more positive feedback in training and provides more social support. A large number of athletes in the student population in Croatia have an autocratic coach who lacks such behavioural patterns (Kašnar, 2016). Similarly, Price and Weiss (2000) showed that athletes had more positive and less negative psychological consequences if coaches had a more democratic and less autocratic leadership style and saw training and instruction as better, receiving more social support and positive feedback. The coach's leadership style has a large effect on the psychological, emotional, and physical effects of playing sports, and such a supportive environment is positively associated with the well-being of athletes (Reinboth et al., 2004).

The concept of leadership in sports is overly complex, therefore, a number of theories have developed that seek to explain this concept through the characteristics of leaders, their behaviours or talk about situational-specific forms of leadership. One of the most widespread models of leadership in sports is a multidimensional leadership model, which specifies that the effectiveness of the conduct of the leader (i.e., the coach) depends on his coincidence with the preferences of team members and some situational characteristics (Chelladurai and Saleh, 1980). According to this model, there are 5 dimensions of coach behaviour that imply: coaching and instruction, democratic behaviour, autocratic behaviour, social support, and positive feedback. Coaches who primarily use behaviours dominated by coaching and instruction, strive to improve the performance, technique, and skill of athletes. Democratic and autocratic behaviour in the context of this model encompasses all behaviours that are described in traditional styles of coaching, and with social support the coach focuses on forming relationships of trust with athletes while expressing concern for their well-being. With positive feedback, the coach gives recognition and praise for the successful performance of the athlete. The leadership behaviours of coaches are of particular importance during the long-standing cooperation between coaches and athletes in which they are in constant interaction and maintain a relationship (Sarı and Bayazıt, 2017). Research suggests that coaches who are more encouraging, supportive and provide a greater level of autonomy in athletes are more probable to encourage positive psychological reactions in athletes which will also act on better performance (Roxas and Ridinger, 2016).

On the other hand, to look at the wider range of the coach's behaviours, it is also indispensable to consider the wider sports context in which the boundaries of acceptable behaviour are often

pushed, and violent behaviour is tolerated. In the attitude of athletes towards the coach, referees or organization, the rules are clearly set, and the excessive expression of aggression and violent behaviour is sanctioned, but such behaviours are not regulated at the level of action of the coach towards the athletes or among the athletes themselves.

In addition, the lack of positive coaching behaviours does not necessarily indicate the existence of negative ones. Raakman and associates (2010) classify negative behaviours of coaches, i.e., misdemeanours, into two categories: indirect and direct behaviours, thus showing that the environment can act abusively on an athlete without direct contact. Furthermore, Greblo Jurakić and Keresteš (2017) cite emotional abuse as one of the forms of abuse in sports, and this form of abuse includes humiliation, threats, insults, ignorance, rejection and more. Emotional abuse represents a potentially harmful pattern of non-contact behaviour within a critical relationship, that is, a relationship that has a strong effect on feelings of trust, security, and satisfaction of needs (Stirling and Kerr, 2013). Roxas and Ridinger (2016) show how negative behaviours such as shouting, intimidation, which promote negative relationships between coaches and athletes, are positively associated with sports anxiety. Stirling and Kerr (2013) conducted a qualitative study in which elite athletes were shown to go through experiences of emotionally violent behaviour by coaches. Another form of abuse is physically manifested by punishing additional elements of training, corporal punishment, insisting on continuing training regardless of the injury. In sports, in addition to emotional and physical abuse, we can encounter some specific forms of abuse that seek to get the best results possible and achieve the goals set. Such forms include encouraging unhealthy forms of nutrition or persuading them to use substances to improve performance and/or endurance (Greblo Jurakić and Keresteš, 2017). Research by Laure and Associates (2001) found that professional coaches are not effective at preventing doping. Undesirable coaching behaviours are associated with reduced satisfaction in sports and more frequent burnout and abandonment in sports (Sullivan et al., 2012).

Taking all of the above into account, athletes can suffer a number of negative, but also positive consequences as a result of interacting with the coach. The coach's behaviours will also directly affect the evaluation of athletes about these behaviours and the performance of the entire team (Sullivan et al., 2012).

3.3 Athletic Leadership

Long considered the foundation of team leadership in sports are head coaches. However, to improve team success and functioning, athletes are able to and should assume leadership roles. (Duguay et al., 2016). Whether these roles are explicitly or informally recognised, athletes believe that more than 85% of their fellow players should display some sort of leadership behaviour (Duguay et al., 2016). Increased athletic leadership in a sports team has been shown to boost the team's motivation, communication, cohesion, role clarity, satisfaction, and success, according to studies.

Duguay et al. (2016) "An athlete in a formal or informal leadership role within a team who motivates a group of team members to achieve a common objective," was how he defined athlete leadership. Usually, the coach or the team decides who will play the formal leadership responsibilities. On the other hand, unofficial leaders emerge via interactions and connections with other team members (Duguay et al., 2016).

Athlete leaders assume different functions within a team (Fransen et al., 2015):

- Task-oriented leaders: Make judgments and offer strategic counsel to the team in order
 to help them achieve their goals (players who can spot a crucial opportunity in a game
 situation and motivate their colleagues to carry out the strategy);
- Motivated leaders: Encourage their teammates to give it all they've got throughout
 practices and games, and to be totally engaged (for example, an athlete who is the first
 to acknowledge or commend the accomplishments and development of his teammates);
- Social Leaders: Encourage team members to interact, grow their relationships, and resolve disputes outside of practices and games (for example, a sportsperson who fosters camaraderie among teammates and has positive relationships with each one); and
- External Leaders: Take the initiative when communicating with outside parties like the management, sponsors, and the media (for example, teammates encouraged by others to collaborate with trainers and officials).

Because athletes undertake a range of tasks, many team members can take on a leadership role in one way or another (Fransen et al., 2015). Additionally, the leadership load would be distributed more evenly as more athletes took on leadership roles, whether they were task-oriented, motivating, social, or outdoor-related, and the team would benefit more and more. In

particular, increasing the number of athletes in leadership roles fosters social cohesiveness and increases feelings of belonging and trust. These enhancements work together to enhance the team's performance and overall success. Therefore, it is imperative that the team's management and coaches work to create a culture of various leaders inside the group. Encouraging a shared leadership arrangement within the team is crucial for the success of the team (Leo et al., 2019).

Exploring the many ways athletes can perform leadership functions in a team, Leo et al. (2019) defined a "split leadership" foundation which features several leaders in a team. This structure helps distribute leadership functions among team members based on their characteristics and alignment with leadership roles. In developing a shared leadership structure, it is proposed that having three task-oriented leaders, two social-oriented leaders, two external-oriented leaders, and multiple motivations sources was optimal for boosting team effectiveness (Leo et al., 2019).

Nominating multiple athletes to leadership perform functions allows other athletes to benefit from a broader spectrum of experience, understanding and skill to connect with, and to make more objective and educated choices. Multiple people being appointed to leadership positions fosters player collaboration on tasks and social relationships. This is because athletes is a larger chance of building bonds with their leading reps, creating a beneficial feedback loop that enhances team performance (Leo et al., 2019).

Following this study, coaches might use the following suggestions to create a common leadership model.:

- Be mindful of the numerous leadership roles that athletes can play within a team and the duties they entail (task-oriented leaders, social elements, external factors, motivation);
- Pay attention to leadership-development acitivites for a larger number of athletes, such as team-wide sport leadership seminars, in order to promote many leaders within a team. (Duguay et al., 2016);
- Set up a shared framework for leadership, with specified leaders focused on tasks, social elements, external factors, motivation (Leo et al., 2019);
- Provide decision-making opportunities for athletes, such as asking athletes to suggest drills and exercises or to schedule team gatherings (Gould & Voelker, 2010).

Certainly, coaches serve a larger leadership function in the team themselves and serve as role models and mentors for their players. But coaches should encourage their players to take on leadership roles as well. Many coaches made the error of not providing their captains or team leaders enough chances to use athlete leadership while examining coaching best practices, which led to missed possibilities for success (Gould and Voelker, 2010).

4. LEADERSHIP ROLE OF CAPTAIN IN PROFESSIONAL SPORT

In a sports context, the formal roles are determined by the technical management of the team and held by the athletes. They also stem from the internal logic of the activity, i.e., from the system of constraints specific to a sports discipline which affects the motor behaviour of practitioners (Parlebas, 1986). For example, the offensive roles differ between rugby and handball because the regulatory constraints are not identical. Finally, the formal roles result from the leaders (captain, coach, etc.) and the representations they have of the activity they direct and supervise (Eys, Carron, Beauchamp, & Bray, 2005). Thus, the coach can offer a player a well-defined offensive role which will result from his vision of the team's offensive system. The study of formal roles is often favoured in the literature because an implicit postulate supports a positive relationship between these roles and performance.

Informal roles arise from interactions between members and are not influenced by people outside the collective (e.g., coach, member of a team's technical staff). Within small groups, Forsyth, Zyzniewski and Giammanco (2002) have identified the roles of police officer, prankster, critic, harmonizer, follower, observer, communicator... On the informal level, a leader can emerge without the latter necessarily being the captain of the team or the central person in the collective game systems. However, the literature remains not very prolific on this dimension of the role because it is not considered to be related to performance (Beauchamp *et al.*, 2002).

To this first categorization based on the genesis of the roles can be combined a second categorization centred on the orientation of the roles. The latter is based on the work of Bales and Slater (Bales, 1958; Slater, 1955) on the functioning of discussion groups bringing together members of the same status (peer groups). During their studies, the authors observed the emergence of two distinct categories of roles, some task-oriented, others social-emotional support. Operational roles bring together behaviours centred on the production and achievement of group objectives. Social roles favour behaviours centred on support, harmony in interpersonal relationships and integration within the group. If originally this categorization is part of a bottom-up perspective, it is nevertheless applicable to the prescribed roles. The two categorizations presented above can therefore intersect to describe the roles fulfilled by

individuals within groups (i.e., formal, and operational, formal, and socio-emotional, informal, and operational, informal, and socio-emotional).

Associated with the definitions of the role, with the conceptions of its genesis and its orientation, the psychosociologists have developed different concepts to describe the commitment, the involvement of individuals in their roles (Eys, Beauchamp, & Bray, 2006). Kahn, Wolfe, Quinn, Snoek, and Rosenthal (1964) proposed to organize these concepts by distinguishing three aspects of the roles: behavioural, affective, and cognitive. For example, role performance characterizes the behavioural side of the role, role satisfaction its affective side, and role clarity (or ambiguity) its cognitive side. While the purpose of this article is to examine role ambiguity, in the following sections we define the different constructs associated with role to highlight the scope of this concept and the place of role ambiguity in this domain. of study.

Role performance refers to the behavioural side of the role (Carron, Hausenblas, & Eys, 2005). It corresponds to the degree of congruence between the behaviours expressed by an individual and the behavioural expectations relating to the role he occupies. In sport, coaches assess the role performance of players. Role satisfaction refers to the affective aspect of the role, that is, to the emotions (e.g., pleasure, joy, pride, shame) felt by individuals vis-à-vis their role (Carron *et al.*, 2005). Rail (1987) described four determinants of the satisfaction experienced by coaches and sports leaders for the role they occupy. This satisfaction increased when their roles (a) offered them the opportunity to use specialized skills or competencies, (b) allowed them to receive feedback or recognition, (c) seemed important to them, and (d) gave them autonomy.

Role effectiveness, like the other concepts defined below, is situated on the cognitive side of the role, and designates individuals' beliefs about their ability to perform specific functions in relation to others. It was recently proposed by Beauchamp *et al.* (2002) and Bray, Brawley, and Carron (2002) as an intermediate construct between self-efficacy and collective efficacy (Bandura, 1986, 1997). Suggesting a hierarchical conception of efficiency, these authors distinguish between personal efficiency, centred on the performance of an individual task independently of others, and role efficiency, centred on the performance of an individual task in relation to others. and collective efficiency, centred on the achievement of a collective task through inter-individual coordination. According to Beauchamp *et al.* (2002, p. 232) "role

effectiveness refers to a particular form of self-efficacy related to a team member's confidence in their abilities to perform the functions of an interdependent role. »

Role conflict occurs when an individual, although interested in the goal associated with his role, does not have sufficient skills, motivation, time, or does not have a satisfactory understanding of his role to achieve this goal. goal (Carron *et al.*, 2005). Kahn *et al.* (1964) identified four types of role conflict all related to the exertion of pressure by one or more individuals on another person.

In Intra-sender conflict, the individual perceives inconsistencies in the expectations of a third person regarding the role they are asking him to play (e.g., a coach may ask a player to play in a more aggressive, but not to make mistakes). In Inter-sender conflict, the individual perceives inconsistencies in the expectations of two or more partners regarding the role he must fulfil (e.g., in rugby, a teammate may ask to play closer to the opposing defence while another teammate asks to take more depth). Furthermore, in Personal role conflict, the individual disagrees with the role that a person wishes to assign to him because this role involves producing behaviours contrary to the values of the individual (e.g., a coach asks a teammate to play hard against an opponent while this team member adheres to the values of fair play). Finally, in Inter-role conflict, the individual perceives discrepancies between the expectations and requirements related to the distinct roles that he fulfils (e.g., pursuing a high-level sports career and raising a child).

Insufficient comprehension of the expectations and duties connected with a particular position is referred to as role ambiguity (Kahn *et al.*, 1964). This concept is used in the psychosociological literature to study individuals' perceptions of the clarity of the roles they occupy in human organizations (low ambiguity corresponds to prominent role clarity). While the concepts described above are considered in a dichotomous or bipolar way, the ambiguity is apprehended through a multidimensional conception.

Role acceptance was recently defined by Eys *et al.* (2006) as the degree of similarity between an athlete's expectations of the responsibilities he would like to assume within the framework of his role and the expectations of responsibilities he perceives in the coach who assigns him the role. This concept has long been confused with role satisfaction conceptually and methodologically. However, Eys *et al.* (2006) proposed to dissociate them because if acceptance requires a process of comparison between two groups of expectations, satisfaction

results from a comparison between what the role brings to the athlete and what he expects. to withdraw from it.

There is no universality in the characteristics of the captain. A coach may prefer a person with a strong character who will guide his teammates in the engagement and the fight on the field or even a player appreciated for his calm who will be able to control the nerves of his teammates. Generally, the captain must be a sportingly recognized player with a guaranteed starting place. If he is not by definition the best player on the team, the technical value of a captain allows him to have a certain authority within the locker room so that he is listened to by his teammates on and off the field. But the quality of the player on the pitch is not enough to make him a good captain. He must also set an example in terms of behaviour and represent a state of mind in line with the values of sport: sportsmanship, modesty, friendliness. Although the captain's ability to bring his team to satisfactory results is often analysed, one of his main missions should not be neglected: that of first interlocutor with the referee. On this question, it is interesting to consider the notable differences between the different team sports.

If the captain is often asked by the main referee in rugby or handball to send messages to the whole team (such as prevention for repeated faults, for example), this is much rarer in football or basketball. In the latter sport, the captain is also very often ignored by the public since there is no draw at the start of the match or recognizable armband. In fact, it is simply unthinkable to see a rugby player other than the captain contesting an arbitration decision, which is commonplace in football. The threat of sanction is however present in both sports (yellow card in football, ten-meter setback in rugby). Whether in handball or rugby, the recognition of the captain as having the right to ask for explanations following an arbitration decision allows a peaceful dialogue between the various players in the sport.

The introduction of video refereeing in football is not trivial. While many decisions still suffer from controversy, it comes in support of the referees who too often felt called into question by the players and by the media which broadcast replays continuously to analyse the slightest error in the judgment of the refereeing body. It seems that rehabilitating the captain's role, beyond being a guide for his teammates, in sports such as football or basketball could improve communication between players in the game. This would also contribute to the passion of the spectators who can sometimes be overwhelmed by the disputes of the players.

4.1 Roles and Responsibilities of a Captain in Professional Sport

The role of the captain can be different depending on the coaches. They don't always want the same things, before, during or after games. So, captains first must adapt to the coach's demands, to what he specifically expects of them. Some coaches allow great freedom to their captain, especially on the tactical level. Others, much less, prefer to lock their game system without anyone being able to intervene. A member of the team is given the title of captain in team sports. The position is often honorary, however in some circumstances the captain may be heavily involved in strategy and collaboration. Either way, it's a role that indicates honour and recognition leader other respect from teammates as by team members. In football and cricket, a captain is sometimes called a skipper.

Team captain duties and responsibilities vary depending on the sport. Also, depending on the sport, team leaders may be asked to speak with referees on how the rules should be applied and interpreted. When the match official tosses the coin at the beginning of the game, the captains of each team represent their respective teams.

In various sports, the coach selects the team captain. The coach may take into consideration qualities such as playing skill, leadership, and setting a good moral example for the squad. Additionally, coaches may decide to rotate team captains or alter them periodically.

Some of the greatest captains in history are those with the finer traits required to succeed. Sam Walker states defines the captain as "the single most crucial factor in the success of a team" in his book *The Captain Class*.

The duties of a captain vary depending on the sport, but in general, they influence the outcome of the match. In team sports like cricket or volleyball, the captains must decide whether both sides will be on defence or in attack after a tie. The captain will decide when the game begins and how it will go, thus this choice is crucial.

A captain is also the person a referee goes to first when they need to explain the outcome of a game or call a foul or raise a flag. Frequently, a referee won't speak with any player other than a captain or coach about these matters. This is significant because the captain's response could influence how the referee deals with the situation. When dealing with a referee, the captain must maintain composure in order to guarantee the game's outcomes are as precise as possible.

4.2 Influence of Captain's Leadership on Team Behaviour and Performance

Cotterill and Cheetham's (2017) study on the captaincy experience in professional sport uses the professional rugby as an example. They studied effective leadership and the role of athletic leadership in performance. Their participants were a homogenous sample that was selected on purpose; based on their experience as rugby captains. They analysed nine super-ordinate themes: role, skills, requirements, challenges the coach, development, experience, context, and approach.

Table 5: Highlighted themes

	On pitch DM	Motivator	Problem solver
	Player representative	Media liaison	Mentor- younger
			players
ROLE	Player/coach buffer	Embody team	Off-pitch
KOLE		culture	responsibilities
	Challenge coach	Feedback on	
		performance	
	Man management	Relationship builder	Enhancing
SKILLS			confidence
SKILLS	Tactical	Conflict resolution	Communication
	understanding		
	Player respect	Support from	Leadership group
REQUIREMENTS		coaches	
REQUIREMENTS	Good support	Informal leader	
	structure	support	
	International player	The media	Coping with media
CHALLENGES			attention
	Lack of initial	The coach	The ethnic mix
	support		
	Young/academy	Changing	Transition in
	players	relationships	captaincy

THE COACH	Coach-captain relationship	Coach ethos	Disciplining players
DEVELOPMENT	Experiences being captained	Peer discussions	Reading books
EXPERIENCE	Don't just speak for the sake of it Don't initiate	Learn by trial and error	Lack of emotional support
	Don t minate	Hindsight is wonderful	Always learning
CONTEXT	Captaincy aspirations	Team composition	Time appointed
	Prior experience	Selection as captain	
	Convict to decisions	Led by example	Be true to yourself
APPROACH	Build on personality	Always evolving	Treat people equally
ATROACH	Modelled on		
	experience		

Source: Cotterill and Cheetham (2017)

The first superordinate theme was concerned with the specific role of the captain in the context of elite professional rugby. On-pitch decision-maker, motivator, problem-solver, player representative, media liaison, mentor to young players, player-coach buffer, embodiment of the team's culture, to challenge the coach, provide feedback on performance, and several off-pitch responsibilities emerged. It was stressed how important it was to set an example. Several leadership areas have previously highlighted this capacity to "walk the walk" and "talk the talk" as an important leadership trait.

Participants in the current study identified six crucial traits that rugby leaders at this level consistently demonstrated. Among these were player management, relationship development, tactical comprehension, dispute resolution, communication, and confidence-building. Effective interpersonal and communication skills have also previously been emphasized as being essential for captains and unofficial athlete leaders. All the participants listed a number of necessary elements that had to be met in order for them to do their jobs well. These included the existence of a leadership group for certain players, coach support, player respect, strong support systems, and solid support structures.

This study highlighted a wide variety of challenges that the captain must face. The ethnic diversity of the team, their transition into leadership, evolving relations over time, working with international athletes, the coach, enduring severe media scrutiny, receiving little early support, working with international players were some of them. The importance of media scrutiny was repeatedly emphasized at this elite level. The media is especially interesting since, although being a component of the game, it shouldn't have a substantial influence on the field. A professional athlete's interaction with the media and media training are becoming more and more anticipated.

All the participants highlighted the influence that captains they had played for had on their vision of captaincy. Participants were forced to take their own development into their own hands in the absence of any "formal" development opportunities, such as discussions with their teammates or reading books on the matter. The participants expressed particular concern about the lack of development opportunities for captains. There are instances of non-professional and sub-elite leadership development programs, but nothing concerning elite leadership development. As a result, any isolated instances of good practice are rarely disseminated. To establish the best way to assist emerging captains at all levels, further study is required.

The captains interviewed for this study emphasized several "lessons learned" throughout their captaincy. You will frequently learn by trial and error; there is a shortage of development assistance; don't copy others; be true to yourself; hindsight is a great thing; and you are constantly learning were some of the repeated themes. There was also discussion about how to better disseminate this accumulated knowledge in order to "fast track" new captains into the sport. This approach is comparable to that proposed more broadly for "fast-tracking" expertise in sports decision-making.

Finally, each participant described their own style of leadership. Some of the common inspirations identified included the need to commit to decisions, set an example, be real, build on one's own personality, treat everyone equally, the fact that one's approach is always evolving, and the fact that the approach was founded on their own personal experience. The fact that you had never "made it," but were continually learning, was another point on which there was broad agreement among the participants. This understanding of the necessity for ongoing evolution and growth is particularly noteworthy in light of the aforementioned absence of sport-specific assistance for existing captains' professional development. This emphasizes the need for more research into strategies to support captains in developing their leadership skills in rugby and other professional sports.

5. EMPIRICAL RESEARCH ON THE INFLUENCE OF TEAM CAPTAIN'S LEADERSHIP ON TEAM BEHAVIOUR AND PERFORMANCE

There have not been many attempts to understand the underlying effects of athlete leadership in a performance-oriented setting. Most of the research has been done on coaches and their effectiveness on motivating and inspiring athletes. The effects of a coach are somewhat obvious, as the notion of the role is to facilitate players and bring out their best selves. Nonetheless, athlete leadership is not to be disregarded, as athletes themselves can also exemplify leadership qualities and as such contribute to the well-being of a team.

5.1 Research Objectives and Methodology

The main objectives of this research are centred around the position of the captain and their impact on the team performance. The study was conducted in order to understand the captains' perception of value and their impact on other team members. This includes studying the parameters of leadership as stated in chapters 2, 3 and 4 and depicting the results using collected data. The methodology used here will be quantitative primary analysis of data collected in a semi structured interview guide. The main objective is to determine what constitutes an effective captain and how is their effectiveness visible in a professional sports teams' setting. Moreover, constituting the quality leadership execution will lead to quality team results. The data will be shown statistically.

5.2 Research Findings

Athletes in high-performance sport are very competent and experienced. They aspire to compete and win consistently. This task is time-consuming and one that necessitates constant performance to maintain success in extremely competitive and advanced environments.

This study involved 6 team captains (4 male and 2 female) in Croatian high-performance sport, between the ages of 26 and 36 (for complete demographic data, see Table 6). The participants

averaged 11 years of professional playing experience (range 5-20 years) and averaged approximately 4 years of experience as team captains (range 1-6 years). They have been involved in all levels of their sport, some of them have experienced living and training abroad, as well as different team cultures around the world. It is worthy to note that some interviewees have been captains in their respective clubs but have since retired or have changed professional clubs and no longer fill the role. They have described their experience when they were in the role.

Table 6: Demographic profiles of participants

Age, years	Gender	Experience as team captain, years	Experience as a player, years	Sport
26	M	2	5	Basketball
27	F	6	11	Futsal
28	M	4	10	Water polo
34	F	6	12	Basketball
36	M	1	20	Handball
26	M	4	9	Volleyball

Source: Author

Firstly, author contacted the participants, gave them a brief explanation of the study's goals and significance, and then extended an invitation to take part in the study. Additionally, participants were made aware that all the information they supplied would be anonymous and confidential. Informed permission was obtained using this approach, which also complied with ethical standards. The participants were selected based on their involvement in professional sport and their interest in sharing their experiences.

Based on earlier studies in leadership and professional sport, the interview guide was created. Demographic questions such as age, number of years as team captain, level of experience as a player, and type of sport performed were included in the first section of the interview guide. The subsequent sections were made to investigate how the participants felt about their personal skills and team performance. The last section of the guide was done in open-ended questions, which allowed the participants more freedom in answer, and are due to interpretation in the way of coding. Such questions were used to capture lived experiences of the participants (e.g., How do you manage differences in the team?). The interviews lasted 25 minutes on average (range 15–40 min). The author conducted all the interviews in Croatian language.

The interviews were deciphered by the author, to familiarize with the data, then later read and analysed. The use of data for both analytical and illustrative purposes was deemed necessary to offer interpretations that would help readers understand the context-specific character of the data extracts and at the same time present instances pertaining to a particular set of analytical assertions. A hierarchical conceptual framework was developed using a thematic content analysis to find patterns in the material. These patterns were categorized as such and combined hierarchically into sub-themes to create themes. The author aimed to include effective information extracts and in-depth analytical descriptions and commentary in the written report that was produced during the final stage of this analytical procedure, as well as translated to English.

The results of the rating scale questions are better depicted in Tables 7,8,9. It is worthy to mention that none of the participants have rated their intra-personal skills such as confidence or humility lower then skilful, similar with self-motivation, discipline, and work ethic (see Table 7). Work ethic was the highest rated trait, in the manner that participants view the value of effort, they belief that it is crucial to work hard. On the other hand, egocentricity was rated several times as unskilful, which indicates that this trait may not be a guideline. Potentially, a true captain is supposed to be a selfless team player. This is later confirmed in the open-end questions where several participants stated that one of their main motivators while fulfilling the role of the captain is seeing their teammates grow.

Table 7: Intra-personal skills of the participants

	Highly unskilful	Unskilful	Neither skilful nor unskilful	Skilful	Highly skilful
Confidence	0	0	0	4	2
Humility	0	0	0	2	4
Self-Motivation	0	0	0	1	5
Discipline	0	0	0	1	5
Work ethic	0	0	0	0	6
Egocentricity	0	2	3	1	0

Source: Author

Similarly, while interpreting the data of inter-personal skills, they show great ability these key players have in their leadership skills (see Table 8) Almost all the participants rated their leadership ability as skilful or above. Key skill to interpret is respectfulness, with all the

participants ranking themselves as highly skilful. This pattern shows a notion that a team captain is gracious and considerate regarding his teammates. Another skill that was rated as highly skilful by all the participants is responsibility. This can be depicted as a fact of being accountable or to take blame for something. This statement is backed up by the results of the open-end questions with participants stating that being a captain is a greater responsibility in the way you behave to the coach, in the locker room or after a loss. Also, as one participant stated, responsibility is shown regarding the media and fans, were most of the blame is to be focused on the team, your role is to take that on yourself and protect the team. Patience, negotiation, and knowledge-sharing are similarly shown as fundamental virtues of a captain, as they were all very highly rated. Having the ability to dialogue between teammates to reach a desired outcome regarding one or more issues of conflict or reach consensus on issues of shared interest involves greater interaction skills, which these individuals possess.

Table 8: Inter-personal skills of the participants

	Highly unskilful	Unskilful	Neither skilful nor unskilful	Skilful	Highly skilful
Leadership	0	0	2	3	1
Motivation	0	0	0	4	2
Respectfulness	0	0	0	0	6
Open-mindedness	0	0	1	3	2
Effective communication	0	0	0	4	2
Responsibility	0	0	0	0	6
Patience	0	0	3	2	1
Negotiation	0	0	0	5	1
Knowledge-sharing	0	0	0	3	3

Source: author

Lastly, the team performance and behaviour chart which shows a high level of team identification for all participants (see Table 9) This refers to the degree to which they identify themselves in terms of their group membership. The very thing that makes this essential is people's internalized sense of a shared identity, a sense of belonging. This is for these individuals, as captains, highly displayed. Continuing, we distinguish between two types of team confidence, collective efficacy, and team outcome confidence. Collective efficacy being described as the group's common belief in its joint competence to coordinate and carry out the

courses of action necessary to generate specific levels of attainment, while team outcome confidence does not focus only on athletes' own team, but also on outperforming the opponent. Results showed a favourable relationship between participants' confidence in the team's ability to succeed and the perceived quality of captains.

Table 9: Team performance assessment of the participants

	Very low	Somewhat low	Neither high nor low	Somewhat high	Very high
Team identification	0	0	0	4	2
Team confidence					
Collective efficacy	0	0	0	4	2
Team outcome confidence	0	0	0	1	5
Team cohesion					
Task cohesion	0	0	0	2	4
Social cohesion	0	0	1	3	2

Source: Author

Similarly, the strength and extent of interpersonal ties among teammates, also known as team cohesiveness, depicts similar results of assurance. Having them divided into two categories of task and social cohesion, participants showed positive outcomes for both. This sense of brotherhood among members encourages participation and keeps them motivated to reach the final objectives, such as championships. This can be associated to their main motivation in captaincy, most of the participants were keen on camaraderie and, most crucially, winning championships. This can be achieved when there is a sense that everyone is on the same page, socially cohesive, and working for the same goal, task cohesive.

Using a coding method, the open-end results were organized in themes. Similar responses were gathered and placed under the same theme or sub-theme. These themes were assessed on the answers from questions about becoming a captain, learning, approach to leadership, performance, and challenges. Participants have shown multiple traits of different sub-themes, that is why they qualify for more than one sub-theme. The results have shown three main themes and six sub-themes.

Performance leaders are considered some of the best players in their respective game. In practice and game situations, they take control of your squad to keep everyone focused and on task. These participants stated that they offer resolute vocal leadership required for the squad

to perform at its best both during practices and unquestionably on game day as competition captains. In addition to ensuring that their teammates play with a high level of energy and accountability, they set the tone for the team with their own strong example and work ethic. The team's most dedicated and competitive athletes are usually performance leaders, as it is seen from the results of the research. They boost everyone else's level of play since they frequently have a certain edge about them. They are very motivated to use their team to achieve something extraordinary and are serious about their accomplishment.

The development and preservation of the team's chemistry is the responsibility of social leaders. These participants have frequently said that they focus on the relationships and level of camaraderie within their team. They typically plan different social occasions to assist individuals get to know one another better, especially outside of the sport, and actively seek out opportunities to interact with teammates.

Status leaders oversee their team's culture. These participants stated that culture is crucially created, supported, and maintained by being a locker room leader. Status leaders shape, manage, and uphold their team's culture into one that is favourable and fruitful for their team through their words and deeds on a regular basis. As culture captains, they set the rules for what is appropriate and inappropriate behaviour in the team on and off the sports playground.

Table 10: Identified themes and subthemes

Theme	Sub-theme
Performance leader (Competition Captain)	Veteran status
Social leader (Chemistry Captains)	Best player
Status leader (Culture Captains)	Positional play
	Meaningful coaches
	Former team captains
	Locker room leader
	Athlete success

Source: Author

Firstly, we analysed questions about becoming a captain. These were categorized in 3 subthemes:

Veteran status (n=4). Four participants of the study said that they have achieved their captain status due to being a more senior member of the squad. In terms of team behaviour, it was also mentioned that they have been at the club for the last few years, which is beneficial. One

participant stated that he went through all the ranks of academy play with the club, which helped develop his status with the ownership and coaches. Through this, they are familiar with him and show full trust in his capabilities as team captain. Participants describe veteran status as being somewhat normal, as when you grow up, you look up to your elders and place them as role models and superiors. Also, one participant stated that player is more likely to respect such a captain and will find it easier to approach other teammates and give advice due to your experience. In terms of team performance, participants stated that having this veteran status allows them to have open communication on setting specific goals for each team member and assign duties within those goals. One participant stated that their role is like a second coach when the coach cannot reach players and asks them to step in to resolve team problems.

Best player (n=3). Similarly, three participants have mentioned that due to their higher technical ability and game knowledge, they have been selected to captain the squad. This is also very common, as often the best player on the squad is chosen to be the leader. Meaning, a captain should be someone who stands out in the team, has a higher technical prowess. Participants have mentioned that often players judge you by your ability on the playing field. Being more able than other teammates, will more likely make them respect that individual and will find motivation in that, which impacts team behaviour positively. Additionally, a high ability captain would be less likely to lose his place in the starting squad, which will dictate team performance overall.

Positional play (n=2). Although, not as frequently as other traits, two participants have pointed to their position on the playing field is key to their captain status. This may be sports specific, but it is worthy to mention that, for example, a goalkeeper in football may not have the same ability to communicate with teammates as a midfielder. This statement was backed up by one of the participants. They have stated that, in a game scenario, they will act like an extension of the coach on the field. This means transferring ideas or communication with other players, in a manner that emulates the coach. Positional play places the captain as one who leads the effort of the team and conveys the tactical elements required by the coach, to the extent of team performance. Although, positions can have some impact on captain choice, if the decision or selection is made by the team manager, other variables off the field now have a bigger impact, as one participant concluded.

Secondly, participants were questioned about their first steps in the realm of leadership and captaincy, with also refereeing to their leadership style and how they have achieved it. The learning aspect of captaincy was then divided into two sub-themes.

Meaningful coaches (n=4). All most all participants have mentioned a deeply rooted connection with their meaningful coach in professional sport. Having an important role on young players, coaches are there to steer and mould young professionals for what the future holds. One participant stated the one does never forget your first coach and the way they approached you. That is the reason why they try to emulate this same impact on other teammates and use the knowledge they have received from this crucial figure in their professional career.

Former team captains (n=2). Two participants have shown great admiration for their prior captains, especially in younger years. One participant stated that upon entry to professional sport, the first captain took them under their wing, and offered council and advice. Other participant stated that without their first captain, they would probably not end up having the career they had, as the captain was the one who demanded a higher level of commitment and was always bringing out the maximum effort from them.

Continuing this thesis, participants were challenged on their approach to leadership, their relationship with teammates, what they think were most important characteristics for their role and their motivation. These were divided into two sub-themes.

Locker room leaders (n=5). These participants have stated that take joy in the culture of their teams and go above and beyond to strengthen, defend, and maintain it. Two participants have made a remark that they will intervene to correct any behaviour that is deemed inappropriate if it is noticed. They proactively challenge anyone acting inconsistently with the mission, standards, and values of the team. These types of captains frequently contribute more to the success of their team via their leadership than they do through their unique athletic aptitude, as one participant mentioned. Multiple participants mentioned that after a frustrating defeat the team is the team is typically crowded with unhappy individuals, but their job is to speak up, be outspoken, and keep the team motivated and productive during these moments more than any other.

Athlete success (n=3). Participants in this study thought about their role as leaders in a broader sense than only supporting improved game performance. Several participants have made a statement that they find great joy in seeing their teammates develop and succeed due to their inputs. The participants mentioned that they sincerely care about others' success and that this is invaluable to an athlete's success and the success of those around them. They mention they are prouder of their teammate's accomplishments then their own sometimes. It is mentioned that

the trust, respect, and support they experience will enable their teammates to forge lifelong connections that transcend the playing field.

5.3 Research Limitations and Future Studies

It is important to recognize the limitations of the current research. First off, these results come from a high-performance sport context that shouldn't be compared to other contexts like recreational or junior sport. Since only Croatian high-performance athletes were included in the study, the findings may possibly be culturally unique. These environmental characteristics could differ culturally from those of other sport environments or structures. The study presented builds on earlier studies by showing that athlete leaders as captains have a distinctive effect on team cohesion, confidence, and performance. Additionally, the sample data of athletes participating in professional sports at high levels allowed for a generalization of findings across performance level and sport. Despite these benefits, the research design has some inherent constraints. The sample size taken is too scarce to make a conventional conclusion. Additionally, the study only included a small sample of team captains from team sports. Due to the position of a captain being very rare, this leads to a limited pool of participants to choose from. Also, these individuals are hard to reach and often have considerably less time to have discussions of longer duration. Continuing, this research was performed during the offseason, which makes the participants interviewed reflect on the past seasons. Possibly having this research during the season, would make some answers more relevant and current. Players switch teams, and often when this happens, they no longer fulfil the role of a captain. Two participants of the study have experienced this, but they have reflected on the times they were in the captain role. Finally, the study was done in a semi structured interview guide. Additional research about the sample can be made to perfect the guide and a larger sample size should be taken into consideration.

6. CONCLUSION

Sports team performance has been found to be significantly influenced by leadership. Within these teams, formal Athlete Leaders such as coaches, team captains, and other "unofficial" Athlete Leaders may provide leadership. It has been widely documented during the past ten years that an athlete's role as a team leader, whether formal or informal, has a substantial impact on how effectively the team works and how well each teammate feels physically and mentally. As a result, managers, coaches, sports psychologists, and researchers now place a high priority on fostering that leadership within a team. Although the importance of athlete leadership is well recognized, the development of systematic approaches to improve and develop athlete leadership qualities and skills in sports teams has lagged.

Given the importance of a team captain on a sports team, this role should be discreetly awarded to a person with strong social skills, self-motivation, and ability to inspire others. Additionally, decision-makers should avoid selecting team leaders based merely on a player's primary position or level of athletic ability. What's more, at this high level of competitiveness, there still appears to be a lack of organized support for captains in terms of selection, rotation, and continuous assistance. It supports the idea that captains are not successfully supported to be the athlete leaders their teams need, especially given the lack of clarity on the talents necessary to fulfil that job.

Research done by this study has provided an insight into captaincy. Findings suggest that there are several types of captains with numerous traits. These are performance leaders, social leaders, and status leaders. All of them, in their own way, have a significant impact on team behaviour and team performance. Further research is needed to subsequently clarify the role of captains, the skills required, the selection process and, most importantly, how to support the development of current and future captains in the sport. The future of competitive sports will focus more on the importance of good leadership, as it is shown to be a key factor in sports team function and performance.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ackerman, P. L. (1987). Individual differences in skill learning: An integration of psychometric and information processing perspectives. Psychological bulletin, 102(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.102.1.3
- Ackerman, P. L. (1991). A correlational analysis of skill specificity: Learning, abilities, and individual differences. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, 16, 883-901. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.16.5.883
- Algahtani, A. (2014), Are leadership and management different? A review, *Journal of management policies and practices*, 2(3), 71-82.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.15640/jmpp.v2n3a4
- 4. Anderson, D., & Anderson, L. A. (2002). *Beyond change management: Advanced strategies for today's transformational leaders*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Anderson, D. W., Krajewski, H. T., Goffin, R. D., & Jackson, D. N. (2008). A leadership self-efficacy taxonomy and its relation to effective leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 19(5), 595-608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.07.003
- 6. Augustyniak, K., & Kilanowski, L. (2021). Theoretical Models of Leadership. In *Principles of Leadership in School Psychology* (pp. 1-19). Springer, Cham.
- 7. Avolio, B. J., & Kahai, S. S. (2003). Adding the "E" to E-Leadership: How it may impact your leadership. *Organizational dynamics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0090-2616(02)00133-X
- 8. Baard, P. P., Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2004). Intrinsic need satisfaction: a motivational basis of performance and weil-being in two work settings 1. Journal of applied social psychology, 34(10), 2045-2068. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2004.tb02690.x
- 9. Bales, R. F. (1958). Task roles and social roles in problem-solving groups. *Readings* in social psychology, 437-447.
- Barić, R., & Bucik, V. (2009). Motivational differences in athletes trained by coaches of different motivational and leadership profiles. *Kinesiology*, 41(2.), 181-194.
 Retrieved from: https://hrcak.srce.hr/45839

- 11. Barrow, J. C. (1977). The variables of leadership: A review and conceptual framework. *Academy of management Review*, *2*(2), 231-251. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1977.4409046
- 12. Bartoluci, M. (2003). Ekonomika i menadžment sporta. Zagreb: Ekonomski fakultet Sveučilišta u Zagrebu.
- 13. Bartoluci, M. i sur. (2004). Menedžment u sportu i turizmu. Zagreb: Kineziološki fakultet Sveučilišta u Zagrebu
- 14. Bartoluci, S. (2020). 4 Sport as a mirror of society. Sport, Statehood and Transition in Europe: Comparative perspectives from post-Soviet and post-socialist societies.
- 15. Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectation. New York: The Free Press.
- 16. Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2010). The transformational model of leadership. *Leading organizations: Perspectives for a new era*, 2, 76-86.
- 17. Beauchamp, M. R., Bray, S. R., Eys, M. A., & Carron, A. V. (2002). Role ambiguity, role efficacy, and role performance: Multidimensional and mediational relationships within interdependent sport teams. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 6(3), 229. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2699.6.3.229
- 18. Beauchamp, M. R., Bray, S. R., Eys, M. A., & Carron, A. V. (2005). Leadership behaviors and multidimensional role ambiguity perceptions in team sports. Small Group Research, 36(1), 5-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496404266684
- 19. Belbin, R. M. (1970). Inspection and human efficiency. *Applied Ergonomics*, *1*(5), 289-294. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-6870(70)90079-7
- 20. Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1985). The strategies for taking charge. Leaders, New York: Harper. Row
- 21. Benson, A. J., Eys, M., Surya, M., Dawson, K., & Schneider, M. (2013). Athletes' perceptions of role acceptance in interdependent sport teams. *The sport psychologist*, 27(3), 269-280.
- 22. Boal, K. B., & Hooijberg, R. (2000). Strategic leadership research: Moving on. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 11(4), 515-549. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(00)00057-6

- 23. Boettke, P., & Leeson, P. (2003). The austrian school of economics: 1950-2000. Blackwell companion to the history of economic thought. Oxford: Basil Blackwell Publishers, 445-454.
- 24. Barbusse, B. (2002). Sport and business: converging logics?. L'Année sociologique, 52(2), 391-415. Retrieved from: https://www.cairn.info/revue-l-annee-sociologique-2002-2-page-391.htm
- 25. Buble, M. (2000). Management, Ekonomski fakultet, Split
- 26. Burns, J.M, (1978). Leadership, N.Y, Harper and Row.
- 27. Camy, J., & Robinson, L. (Eds.). (2007). *Managing Olympic sport organizations* (Vol. 6). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- 28. Carron, A. V., Hausenblas, H. A., & Eys M. A. (2005). Group Dynamics in Sport
- 29. Chelladurai, P., & Kim, A. C. H. (2022). *Human resource management in sport and recreation*. Human Kinetics.
- 30. Chelladurai, P., & Saleh, S. D. (1980). Dimensions of leader behavior in sports: Development of a leadership scale. *Journal of sport psychology*, *2*(1). https://doi.org/10.1123/jsp.2.1.34
- 31. Cotterill, S. T., & Cheetham, R. (2017). The experience of captaincy in professional sport: The case of elite professional rugby. *European journal of sport science*, *17*(2), 215-221. https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2016.1245788
- 32. Crust, L., & Lawrence, I. (2006). A review of leadership in sport: Implications for football management. *Athletic Insight: The Online Journal of Sport Psychology*, 8(4), 28-48. Retrieved from: http://www.athleticinsight.com/Vol8Iss4/FootballManager.htm
- 33. Cushion, C. (2007). Modelling the complexity of the coaching process. International journal of sports science & coaching, 2(4), 395-401. https://doi.org/10.1260/174795407783359650
- 34. Čerenšek, I. (2017). Mentalni trening: priručnik za trenere.
- 35. Čukanović-Karavidić, M., Karavidić, S., & Vujičić, S. (2016). Business education and social skills to leadership competencies. International Review, (1-2), 38-45. https://doi.org/10.5937/intrev1602038C

- 36. Dai, G., Tang, K. Y., & De Meuse, K. P. (2011). Leadership competencies across organizational levels: A test of the pipeline model. Journal of Management Development.
- 37. Davies, B. J., & Davies, B. (2004). Strategic leadership. School leadership & management, 24(1), 29-38.
- 38. De Vries, M. F. K. (2006). *The leader on the couch: A clinical approach to changing people and organizations*. John Wiley & Sons.
- 39. Defrance, J. (2006). Sociology of Sport. Paris: Discovery.
- 40. Dolenec, I., Zvonarek, N. (1999). Anatomija tehnike i taktike rukometne igre s rječnikom rukometnih pojmova. Zagreb: Augustini.
- 41. Duguay, A. M., Loughead, T. M., & Munroe-Chandler, K. J. (2016). The development, implementation, and evaluation of an athlete leadership development program with female varsity athletes. *The Sport Psychologist*, 30(2), 154-166. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.2015-0050
- 42. Ehrenberg, A. (1998). La Fatigue d'être soi. Dépression et société. Paris: Odile Jacob.
- 43. Ehrenberg, A. (1991). Le culte de la performance [The cult of performance]. Paris: Calmann-Lévy.
- 44. Forsyth, D. R., Zyzniewski, L. E., & Giammanco, C. A. (2002). Responsibility diffusion in cooperative collectives. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 28(1), 54-65. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167202281005
- 45. Fransen, K., Haslam, S. A., Steffens, N. K., Mallett, C. J., Peters, K., & Boen, F. (2020). Making 'us' better: High-quality athlete leadership relates to health and burnout in professional Australian football teams. *European journal of sport science*, 20(7), 953-963.
- 46. Fransen, K., Haslam, S. A., Mallett, C. J., Steffens, N. K., Peters, K., & Boen, F. (2017). Is perceived athlete leadership quality related to team effectiveness? A comparison of three professional sports teams. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 20(8), 800-806.
- 47. Fransen, K., Vanbeselaere, N., De Cuyper, B., Vande Broek, G., & Boen, F. (2014). The myth of the team captain as principal leader: Extending the athlete leadership

- classification within sport teams. *Journal of sports sciences*, *32*(14), 1389-1397. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2014.891291
- 48. Fransen, K., Van Puyenbroeck, S., Loughead, T. M., Vanbeselaere, N., De Cuyper, B., Broek, G. V., & Boen, F. (2015). The art of athlete leadership: Identifying high-quality athlete leadership at the individual and team level through social network analysis. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 37(3), 274-290. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.2014-0259
- 49. Gould, D., & Carson, S. (2008). Life skills development through sport: Current status and future directions. *International review of sport and exercise psychology*, *1*(1), 58-78.
- 50. Gould, D., & Voelker, D. K. (2010). Youth sport leadership development: Leveraging the sports captaincy experience. *Journal of sport psychology in action*, *I*(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/21520704.2010.497695
- 51. Greblo Jurakić, Z., & Keresteš, G. (2017). The other Side of the Medal: Development and Metric Characteristics of Negative Coaching Behavior Questionnaire (NCBQ). Psihologijske teme, 26(2), 377-396. https://doi.org/10.31820/pt.26.2.6
- 52. Greenleaf, R. (1991). The servant as leader. Indianapolis, IN: The Robert K. Greenleaf Center.
- 53. Hersey, P., & Blanchard, K. H. (1982). Leadership style: Attitudes and behaviors. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1982-24563-001
- 54. Hosmer, L. T. (1982). The importance of strategic leadership. *The Journal of business* strategy, 3(2), 47. https://doi.org/10.1108/eb038966
- 55. House, R. J. (1971). A path goal theory of leader effectiveness. *Administrative science quarterly*, 321-339. https://doi.org/10.2307/2391905
- 56. Ireland, R. D., & Hitt, M. A. (1999). Achieving and maintaining strategic competitiveness in the 21st century: The role of strategic leadership. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *13*(1), 43-57. https://doi.org/10.5465/ame.1999.1567311
- 57. Jansen, J. J., Vera, D., & Crossan, M. (2009). Strategic leadership for exploration and exploitation: The moderating role of environmental dynamism. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(1), 5-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.11.008

- 58. Jeu, B. (1977). Sport, emotion, space: essay on the classification of sports and its relationship with mythical thought. Paris: Vigot
- 59. Jowah, L. E. (2013). Followership: The forgotten kingmaker for effective leadership. *Journal of US-China Public Administration*, 10(7), 708-719. Retrieved from: academia.edu
- 60. Jowah, L. E. (2016). The impact of leadership styles on effective project execution. *Sky Journal of Business Administration and Management*, 4(3), 10-17.
- 61. Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Ilies, R., & Gerhardt, M. W. (2002). Personality and leadership: a qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of applied psychology*, 87(4), 765. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.765
- 62. Kahai, S., Avolio, B. J., & Sosik, J. J. (2017). E-leadership. *The Wiley Blackwell handbook of the psychology of the internet at work*, 285-314.
- 63. Kahn, R. L., Wolfe, D. M., Quinn, R. P., Snoek, J. D., & Rosenthal, R. A. (1964). Organizational stress: Studies in role conflict and ambiguity. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1965-08866-000
- 64. Kašnar, T. (2016). *Kakve trenere sportaši žele, a kakve imaju?* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Zagreb. Faculty of Kinesiology).
- 65. Katz R. (1974). Skills of an Effective Administrator, Harvard Business Review. Retrieved from: https://hbr.org/1974/09/skills-of-an-effective-administrator
- 66. Klus, M., & Müller, J. (2020). Identifying leadership skills required in the digital age. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3564861
- 67. Knibbe, T. J., Wattie, N., Baker, J., Fraser-Thomas, J., Mosher, A., & Leo, J. (2019). The academy for student athlete development: The evolution of a sport school model in Ontario. *Journal of Exercise, Movement, and Sport (SCAPPS refereed abstracts repository)*, 51(1), 113-113. Retireved from: https://www.scapps.org/jems/index.php/1/article/view/2331
- 68. Laure, P., Thouvenin, F., & Lecerf, T. (2001). Attitudes of coaches towards doping.

 Journal of sports medicine and physical fitness, 41(132), 6.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/12019015_Attitudes_of_coaches_towards_doping

- 69. Marques, J. (2015). The changed leadership landscape: What matters today. *Journal of Management Development*. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-02-2015-0010
- 70. McGrath, J. E. (1962). The influence of positive interpersonal relations on adjustment and effectiveness in rifle teams. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 65(6), 365. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0047395
- 71. McGregor, D. (1960). Theory X and theory Y. *Organization theory*, *358*(374), 5. https://doi.org/10.1093/OBO/9780199846740-0078
- 72. Miljković, D. (2009). Pedagogija za sportske trenere. Zagreb: Kineziološki fakultet Sveučilišta u Zagrebu
- 73. Mintzberg, H. (1973). Strategy-making in three modes. California management review, 16(2), 44-53. https://doi.org/10.2307/41164491
- 74. Morgeson, F. P., DeRue, D. S., & Karam, E. P. (2010). Leadership in teams: A functional approach to understanding leadership structures and processes. *Journal of management*, *36*(1), 5-39. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206309347376
- 75. Mumford, T. V., Campion, M. A., & Morgeson, F. P. (2007). The leadership skills strataplex: Leadership skill requirements across organizational levels. *The leadership quarterly*, 18(2), 154-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2007.01.005
- 76. Mumford, M. D., Zaccaro, S. J., Connelly, M. S., & Marks, M. A. (2000). Leadership skills: Conclusions and future directions. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *11*(1), 155-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)00047-8
- 77. Northouse, P. G. (2019). *Introduction to leadership: Concepts and practice*. Sage Publications.
- 78. Novelli Jr, L., & Taylor, S. (1993). The context for leadership in 21st-century organizations: A role for critical thinking. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *37*(1), 139-147. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764293037001014
- 79. Parlebas, P. (1986). Elements of the Sociology of Sport. Paris: PUF.
- 80. Pichot, L., Pierre, J., & Burlot, F. (2009). Management practices in companies through sport. *Management Decision*.

- 81. Pierre, J., & Barth, I. (2010). Un esprit sain dans un corps sain: promouvoir le sport au travail. Gestion, 35(3), 86. https://doi.org/10.3917/riges.353.0086
- 82. Price, M. S., & Weiss, M. R. (2000). Relationships among coach burnout, coach behaviors, and athletes' psychological responses. *The Sport Psychologist*, *14*(4), 391-409. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.14.4.391
- 83. Raakman, E., Dorsch, K., & Rhind, D. (2010). The development of a typology of abusive coaching behaviours within youth sport. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, *5*(4), 503-515. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsp.9.4.376
- 84. Rail, G. (1987). Perceived role characteristics and executive satisfaction in voluntary sport associations. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *9*(4), 376-384. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsp.9.4.376
- 85. Recours, R. A., Souville, M., & Griffet, J. (2004). Expressed motives for informal and club/association-based sports participation. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *36*(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2004.11950008
- 86. Reinboth, M., Duda, J. L., & Ntoumanis, N. (2004). Dimensions of coaching behavior, need satisfaction, and the psychological and physical welfare of young athletes. *Motivation and emotion*, 28(3), 297-313. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:MOEM.0000040156.81924.b8
- 87. Roxas, A. S., & Ridinger, L. L. (2016). Relationships of coaching behaviors to student-athlete well-being. *Higher education politics & economics*, *2*(1), 95-109. https://doi.org/10.32674/hepe.v2i1.21
- 88. Camiré, M., & Santos, F. (2019). Promoting positive youth development and life skills in youth sport: Challenges and opportunities amidst increased professionalization. *Journal of Sport Pedagogy and Research*, 5(1), 27-34. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/335427842 Promoting Positive Youth De velopment and Life Skills in Youth Sport Challenges and Opportunities amidst Increased_Professionalization
- 89. Sarı, İ., & Bayazıt, B. (2017). The relationship between perceived coaching behaviours, motivation and self-efficacy in wrestlers. Journal of human kinetics, 57(1), 239-251. https://doi.org/10.1515/hukin-2017-0065

- 90. Sikavica P., Bahtijarević-Šiber F., Pološki-Volkić N., (2008). Temelji menadžmenta, Zagreb, Školska knjiga
- 91. Slater, P. E. (1955). Role differentiation in small groups. *American Sociological Review*, 20(3), 300-310. https://doi.org/10.2307/2087389
- 92. Spanberg, E. (2012). "Employee benefits", Street & Smith's SportsBusiness Journal. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSMS-02-2016-00
- 93. Stirling, A. E., & Kerr, G. A. (2013). The perceived effects of elite athletes' experiences of emotional abuse in the coach—athlete relationship. *International journal of sport and exercise psychology*, 11(1), 87-100. https://doi.org/10.1080/1612197X.2013.752173
- 94. Stogdill, R. M. (1948). Personal factors associated with leadership: A survey of the literature. *The Journal of psychology*, *25*(1), 35-71. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.1948.9917362
- 95. Storey, J. (Ed.). (2004). *Leadership in organizations: Current issues and key trends*. Psychology Press.
- 96. Sullivan, P., Paquette, K. J., Holt, N. L., & Bloom, G. A. (2012). The relation of coaching context and coach education to coaching efficacy and perceived leadership behaviors in youth sport. Sport Psychologist, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.26.1.122
- 97. Tomić, M. (2007). Sportski menadžment. Beograd: Data status.
- 98. Vella, S. A., Oades, L. G., & Crowe, T. P. (2010). The application of coach leadership models to coaching practice: Current state and future directions. *International Journal of Sports Science & Coaching*, 5(3), 425-434. http://dx.doi.org/10.1260/1747-9541.5.3.425
- 99. Vigarello, G. (2000). Passion for sport: history of a culture
- 100. Vojinović, J., Doder, D., i Golik-Perić, D. (2008). Faktori uspeha kod dece karatista. Aktuelno u praksi, 20(6), 86-91. Retireved from: https://www.pzsport.rs/PDF/aup/AuP%206.pdf#page=86
- 101. Vroom, V. H., & Jago, A. G. (1988). *The new leadership: Managing participation in* organizations. Prentice-Hall, Inc.

102. Wann, D. L. (2006). Understanding the positive social psychological benefits of sport team identification: The team identification-social psychological health model. Group dynamics: theory, research, and practice, 10(4), 272. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2699.10.4.272

103. Yukl, G. (2006). Leadership in Organizations (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Summary of environmental challenges for the leadership of several projects	13
Table 2: Modified table of representations of good leadership qualities	16
Table 3: Modified table of Fiedler's contingency leadership model	19
Table 4: Modified table of the Path-goal theory	20
Table 5: Highlighted themes	54
Table 6: Demographic profiles of participants	58
Table 7: Intra-personal skills of the participants	59
Table 8: Inter-personal skills of the participants	60
Table 9: Team performance assessment of the participants	61
Table 10: Identified themes and subthemes	62

BIOGRAPHY

Lucijan Vranić

Address: Ksaver 12, 10 000 Zagreb

Phone: +385 91 4446 441

Email: lucijan.vranic@gmail.com

Education

October 2020 - present	University of Zagreb, Faculty of Economics and Business Master Degree in Management
October 2015 – September 2020	University of Zagreb, Faculty of Economics and Business Bachelor Degree in Business
September 2010 – June 2015	VII Grammar School, Zagreb High School Education

Work experience

October 2015 - present	Logistics Manager Diva Prijevoz d.o.o., Zagreb
September 2019 – September 2021	Student Assistant University of Zagreb, Faculty of Economics and Business, Department of Organisation and Management

Volunteering

October 2017 – September 2020	Croatian Student Organisation
	Head of Human Resources team

Language skills

Croatian	Native proficiency		
English	Proficient user (C1)		
German	Independent user (B1)		

Appendix – Interview guide

1. DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONS

1	Gender	
2	Age	
3	Sport played	
4	Years of playing experience	
5	Years of experience as a captain	

2. RATING SCALE QUESTIONS – characteristics of the captain (Yourself)

Intra-personal skills (unskilful - highly skilful):

	Highly unskilful	Unskilful	Neither skilful nor unskilful	Skilful	Highly skilful
Confidence					
Humility					
Self-Motivation					
Discipline					
Work ethic					
Egocentricity					

Inter-personal skills (unskilful - highly skilful):

	Highly unskilful	Unskilful	Neither skilful nor unskilful	Skilful	Highly skilful
Leadership					
Motivation					
Respect					
Open-mindedness					
Effective communication					

Responsibility			
Patience			
Negotiation			
Knowledge-sharing			

Team performance / behaviour (low – high):

	Very low	Somewhat low	Neither high nor low	Somewhat high	Very high
Team identification					
Team confidence					
Collective efficacy					
Team outcome confidence					
Team cohesion		•			
Task cohesion					
Social cohesion					

3. OPEN-ENDED QUESTIONS

1. Becoming a captain

- a) Why do you think you were chosen to be team captain?
- b) What does it mean to you?

2. Learning

a) What or who has helped you the most to become a leader?

3. Approach to leadership

- a) Describe your role as the team captain.
- b) Describe your relationship with the team players.
- c) How would you define your leadership style? How do you display it?
- d) What are in your opinion the most important characteristics of the captain?
- e) How do you motivate your team?

4. Performance

- a) What motivates you to be the team leader?
- b) How do you measure success for yourself personally as a leader?

5. Challenges

- a) How do you manage differences in the team?
- b) Describe one conflict in the team and how did you resolve it?
- c) Would you like to improve anything about yourself as a captain?